CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM (CNS) NUTRIENT SENSING IN DIABETES

by

Madhu Chari

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in conformity with the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Graduate Department of Physiology University of Toronto

© Copyright by Madhu Chari (2009)



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-59326-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-59326-4

NOTICE:

AVIS:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant. Title: CNS Nutrient Sensing in Diabetes Degree: M.Sc Year of Convocation: 2009 Full Name: Vinjamuri Madhusudana Chari Department: Physiology University of Toronto

GENERAL ABSTRACT

An acute increase in hypothalamic glucose and its downstream metabolite lactate lower glucose production (GP) and plasma glucose (PG) levels in normal rodents. However, the effectiveness of this nutrient-sensing mechanism in metabolic disease is unknown. We assessed the effects of intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) or intra-hypothalamic glucose and lactate on *in vivo* glucose kinetics in conscious rats. Study I revealed that i.c.v. lactate lowered PG via a suppression of GP in rodents with uncontrolled diabetes and diet-induced insulin resistance. Study II demonstrated that i.c.v. glucose was ineffective at suppressing GP in uncontrolled diabetic rodents or rodents with a prior 24 h whole-body or hypothalamic hyperglycemic insult. When PG levels *per se* were normalized in diabetic rodents hypothalamic glucose sensing to lower GP was rescued. As such, sustained hyperglycemia *per se* impairs hypothalamic glucose effectiveness in diabetes. Further studies are necessary to determine defective mechanisms upstream of lactate metabolism hindering CNS glucose sensing.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Since my childhood, I have had a fascination and appreciation for science. A discipline of study so tangible and explanatory, it seemed like a natural fit for a perpetually curious individual with an inquiring mind. While my curiosity and determination has been imperative in achieving my academic success, I would be remiss if I did not highlight the contributions of several notable individuals who have helped make my graduate research training such an enriching experience.

Being the inaugural graduate student in the newly established lab of Dr. Tony Lam was initially intimidating. However, over the past two years, Tony has proven to be an effective supervisor and mentor who is knowledgeable beyond his years. His thorough and scrutinizing approach to research has, I believe, made me a better scientist and student. My progress has also been greatly facilitated by the talented members of our lab, particularly Penny Wang and Carol Lam who have been with me from day one. I would also like to give my regards to my advisory committee members Drs. Amira Klip and Dominic Ng, for taking time out of their busy schedules and providing feedback during the course of my project, as well as my undergraduate supervisor Dr. Geoff Werstuck, for supporting me during the graduate studies he so strongly advocated and encouraged me to pursue.

My family is incredibly important to me, and being able to turn to my brother Krishna and my parents over the years has been an absolute blessing. I would also like to further acknowledge my mother, Jayanthi Chari, and my father, Dr. Vinjamuri Ramanuja Chari for being my personal and professional role models and for their patience while I have carved out my career and academic interests.

As I embark upon my medical training and look back on my graduate years, I can say with confidence that my research training will not soon be forgotten; rather, it has yielded a skill set and a means of interpretation that will only be deepened and built upon. As such, I look forward to the next step and embracing the inevitable challenges that lie ahead.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
Diabetes	1
Regulation of Hepatic Glucose Fluxes Hormonal Nutrient	4 6 7
Glucotoxicity	8
CNS Regulation of Glucose Homeostasis	11
CNS Hormone Action Insulin Leptin	12 12 15
Glucagon-Like Peptide 1	.16
CNS Nutrient Sensing Glucose	19 . <i>.19</i>
Fatty Acids	.22
Amino Acids	.24
Implications for Diabetes and Obesity	27
GENERAL HYPOTHESIS	. 31
EXPERIMENTAL OBJECTIVES	. 32
GENERAL METHODS AND MATERIALS	. 33
STUDY I: CNS LACTATE SENSING IN METABOLIC DISEASE	. 39
Abstract	40
Methods	41
Results	44
STUDY II: GLUCOTOXICITY AND CNS GLUCOSE SENSING	. 52
Abstract	53
Methods	54
Results	58

GENERAL DISCUSSION		
Study I	74	
Study II	79	
GENERAL CONCLUSION	90	
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	92	
References	94	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure #		<u>age #</u>			
Inti	roduction				
1.	Biochemical Pathway of Liver Glucose Fluxes	5			
2.	Hypothalamic Hormone Signaling Pathways Regulating Glucose Homeostasis	18			
3.	Glucose and Fatty Acid Sensing Mechanisms in the Hypothalamus	26			
General Methods and Materials					
1.	Hypothalamic Administration and Nuclei	34			
Stu	idy I				
1.	Schematic representation of Study 1 and experimental protocol for STZ-diabetic Rodents	47			
2.	Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers Glucose Production and Plasma Glucose levels in Uncontrolled Diabetes	48			
3.	Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers Glucose Production and Plasma Glucose levels in experimentally-induced Hypoinsulinemia	49			
4.	Metabolic characteristics of the high-fat diet-induced Insulin Resistant Rodents	50			
5.	Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers glucose production in the high fat diet- induced Insulin Resistant Model				
Stu	idy II				
1.	Schematic representation of working Hypothesis and Experimental Protocol	65			
2.	Acute elevation in Central Glucose is Unable to lower Glucose Production in Uncontrolled Diabetes	1 66			
3.	Working Hypothesis, Experimental Protocol and Glycemic Status for Glucotoxicity Models	s 67			
4.	Glucose Fluxes in Hyperglycemic Models during i.h. Infusions	68			
5.	Schematic Representation of working Hypothesis and Gain-of-Function Experimental Protocol in Assessing Hypothalamic Glucose Sensing	69			
6.	Effect of Continuous Phlorizin Administration on STZ-Diabetic Rodents	70			
7.	Insulin-Independent Normalization of Glycemia Rescues CNS Glucose Sensing in Diabetes	71			

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table ‡</u>	<u>t</u>	Page #
Study l	11	
1.	Plasma levels of Insulin (ng/mL) during Pancreatic Clamps	63
2.	Plasma levels of Glucagon (pg/mL) during Pancreatic Clamps	64

PUBLICATIONS THAT CONTRIBUTED TO THIS THESIS

Chari M*, Lam CK*, Lam TK. CNS Regulation of Glucose Homeostasis. *Physiology* 24:159-70 (2009). **contributed equally*

• Material from this review is <u>used with permission</u> as required by the American Physiological Society. The letter of permission has been submitted to the School of Graduate Studies.

Chari M, Lam CK, Wang PY and Lam TK. Activation of central lactate metabolism lowers glucose production in uncontrolled diabetes and diet-induced insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 57:836-40 (2008).

• The American Diabetes Association (ADA) holds a copyright on material published in the journal Diabetes. The ADA <u>does not</u> require authors to submit a request to use portions of ADA-copyrighted material in their own work so long as it is for educational purposes and that proper citation and copyright information is provided.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Diabetes

In normal individuals, the level of plasma glucose remains within a fairly tight range of 4 to 7 mM despite periods of feeding and fasting (172). However, the body's intrinsic insulin-sensitive ability to utilize glucose is disrupted in a group of heterogeneous metabolic disorders known as diabetes mellitus. As such, these diseases are ultimately characterized by chronic hyperglycemia, where, as per the clinical definition, the plasma glucose level exceeds 7.0 mM after fasting or 11.1 mM two hours post-glucose load (219). The two major forms of diabetes are type 1 (or insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus; IDDM) and type 2 (non-insulin dependent; NIDDM), which are characterized by the absolute or relative deficiency of insulin, respectively. Primarily driven by increasingly sedentary lifestyles and the escalating prevalence of obesity, the last few decades have witnessed an undeniable increase in the cases of type 2 diabetes in particular. Currently, diabetes affects approximately 170 million people (206), and the World Health Organization has predicted that this number will double by the year 2025 (212). The comorbidities associated with diabetes makes these numbers even more devastating: diabetes is a leading cause of heart disease, blindness, end-stage kidney disease, and non-traumatic loss of limb (77).

Type 1 diabetes results from the autoimmune-mediated destruction of the insulinproducing pancreatic β -cell islets, resulting in near-absolute insulin deficiency. Although its pathogenesis is known to exploit genetic susceptibility in addition to the interaction of this genetic predisposition with environmental triggers, the precise etiology of the autoimmune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes remains a puzzle despite decades of research (8). Due the nature of the disease, individuals with type 1 diabetes are dependent on the injection of exogenous insulin as a primary therapy. However, excessive insulin treatment can lead to iatrogenic hypoglycemia, which is a cause of recurrent morbidity that can also affect individuals with type 2 diabetes (43).

Type 2 diabetes is the most common metabolic disease in the world. And although the primary trigger of type 2 diabetes is unknown, the disease is associated with insulin resistance (157), and it is quite evident that insulin resistance plays an early role in its pathogenesis. Thus, it is logical that the increasing incidence of type 2 diabetes is concurrent with the epidemic of obesity (158), which is also associated with insulin resistance. However, most obese and insulin resistant individuals do not develop hyperglycemia (91), as in these individuals, an increase in β -cell mass compensates for the increased metabolic burden and loss of sensitivity; however, when this β -cell adaptation fails, type 2 diabetes develops (28). In the insulin resistant state, the insulin-sensitive process of hepatic glucose production becomes dysregulated. Indeed, excessive glucose production is a primary contributor to the postprandial hyperglycemia that is observed in individuals with diabetes (48; 190). Therefore, insulin resistance as well as defective insulin secretion by pancreatic β -cells are both instrumental in the establishment of subsequent overt hyperglycemia which characterizes diabetes.

With the increased prevalence of obesity in the world, especially in developed and affluent societies, it is imperative to promote a shift away from the increasingly popular lifestyle of excessive caloric intake and decreased physical activity in order to diminish the related prevalence of type 2 diabetes. Once diabetes is established, the effective management of hyperglycemia and other manifestations of diabetes via lifestyle changes and therapeutic interventions becomes critical. If this multifaceted metabolic disease is improperly managed, a wide array of devastating secondary complications can be promoted, which includes microvascular diseases such as renal failure, retinopathy and neuropathy, as well as macrovascular diseases such as CVD and stroke (61).

As such, it is important to develop an understanding of the pathways of hepatic glucose metabolism and fluxes, the mechanisms regulating these processes, and how disruptions in these regulatory mechanisms contribute to the hyperglycemia that is characteristic of diabetes. Advancements in therapeutic strategies targeting excessive hepatic glucose production are necessary to improve glycemic control in individuals with diabetes, and it is hoped that the findings of this thesis will contribute to this initiative.

Regulation of Hepatic Glucose Fluxes

In the liver, hepatocytes take up glucose in an insulin-independent manner by the high K_m GLUT2 (159). Its' high capacity, low-affinity nature means that GLUT2 is not saturated by higher concentrations of glucose, and as such, allows the rate of glucose transport to be proportional to the ambient glucose concentration. Interestingly, this isoform is abundantly expressed in tissues that are exposed to large glucose fluxes, including the liver, intestine, kidney, as well as pancreatic β-cells (19). Once in the liver, glucose is rapidly phosphorylated by glucokinase (GK), to form glucose-6-phopshate (G6P) (19). Acutely, GK activity is regulated by glucokinase regulatory protein (GKRP), which is normally sequestered in the nucleus at high glucose and insulin concentrations, but when glucose levels decrease (e.g. fasting), GKRP distribution becomes cytoplasmic, where it binds and inhibits GK, and sequesters it as an inactive form in the nucleus (23).

From here, G6P is directed into 1) the direct pathway of glycogen synthesis, via the formation of uridine diphosphate (UDP)-glucose or 2) glycolysis, which yields carbon-3 compounds like pyruvate and lactate (159). These carbon-3 compounds can undergo oxidation in the Krebs cycle or serve as gluconeogenic substrates for the de novo glucose and glycogen synthesis (indirect pathway) (105). There are numerous enzymes that regulate the cycling of glucose metabolites between gluconeogenesis and glycolysis (**Figure 1**); indeed, the control of metabolic flux between these two pathways can be largely influenced by the expression of genes encoding these enzymes, including phophoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and fructose-1,6-biphosphatase (gluconeogenic), as well as the glycolytic phosphofructo-1-kinase (PFK) and pyruvate kinase (PK) (129). Perhaps the most unique property of the liver, as far as glucose metabolism is concerned, is its' abundant expression of glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) which dephosphorylates and effectively "frees" glucose into its releasable form. As well, G6Pase is not expressed in the muscle or

adipose tissue (198). This prevents the muscle and fat from producing glucose and makes the liver the primary endogenous producer of glucose. Total hepatic GP is determined by both the rates of gluconeogenesis as well as glycogenolysis.



Figure 1. Biochemical Pathway of Liver Glucose Fluxes

Glucose is taken up by the facilitated glucose transporter GLUT2, and is subsequently phosphorylated to form glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) by glucokinase (GK). Glucokinase is inhibited and sequestered in the nucleus by glucokinase regulatory protein (GKRP) under periods of low glucose levels. In the setting of elevated insulin and glucose, G6P is primarily shunted into two metabolic fates: 1) glycolysis or 2) glycogen synthesis. After being isomerized into glucose-1-phosphate (G1P) by phosphoglucomutase (PGM) and converted to uridine diphosphate (UDP)-glucose, glucose is incorporated into glycogen for storage via glycogen synthase (GS). In glycogen breakdown, glycogen phosphorylase catalyzes the release of individual glucose units. The control of metabolic flux is heavily determined by the expression of glycolytic enzymes (white arrows), such as phosphofructokinase (PFK) and pyruvate kinase (PK), and gluconeogenic enzymes (thick black arrows), including phophoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and fructose-1,6-biphosphatase (F-1,6-Pase). Lactate, as part of the Cori cycle which aims to prevent lactic acidosis in active muscle, is taken up primarily by the monocarboxylate transporter (MCT)-2, where it is converted to pyruvate by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and can ultimately contribute to gluconeogenesis. The liver's unique property of strong glucose-6-phosphatase (G6Pase) expression confers its ability to be a glucose-producing (glycogenolysis + gluconeogenesis) organ.

The maintenance of glucose homeostasis in the body requires a dynamic equilibrium between the processes of hepatic glucose production as well as whole body glucose utilization. These processes are by and large regulated by signals initiated by circulating hormonal as well as nutrient factors, the most critical of which are outlined below.

Hormonal

A glucose load normally stimulates the release of insulin from the pancreas. Once released into the bloodstream, insulin is the primary regulator of blood glucose concentration, as it potently increases GLUT4-mediated glucose uptake in muscle and fat and inhibits hepatic GP. Insulin also promotes substrate storage across tissues by stimulating lipogenesis, glycogen and protein synthesis while inhibiting the corresponding reverse hydrolysis reactions (172).

Specifically, after binding the insulin receptor (IR) which leads to receptor tyrosine auto-phosphorylation, insulin signaling leads to the activation of insulin receptor substrates (IRS) which have been demonstrated as critical intracellular regulators of glucose homeostasis. Knockout mice which are deficient in IRS-1 displayed diminished hepatic insulin signaling, as well as peripheral insulin resistance and impaired glucose tolerance (7; 189), and IRS-2 knockout mice additionally had decreased β-cell mass leading to the development of type 2 diabetes (208). Further, insulin stimulates the long-term storage of glucose units as glycogen by promoting the activation of glycogen synthase, via the phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI₃K) signaling pathway: here, protein kinase B (PKB a.k.a. Akt) is activated and in turn inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) (42), which decreases the rate of the inhibitory phosphorylation by GSK-3 on glycogen synthase. Concurrently, insulin inhibits the production of glucose from the liver by blocking glycogenolysis as well as gluconeogenesis. Insulin directly regulates metabolic enzymes (**Figure 1**) by affecting their phosphorylation states, and additionally, can regulate their gene

expression (150). Insulin action inhibits the expression of PEPCK which catalyzes the ratelimiting step in gluconeogenesis (132; 186), and decreases the expression of other gluconeogenic enzymes including fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase and G6Pase. Conversely, insulin increases glycolytic enzyme expression including GK and pyruvate kinase (172).

Nutrient

In addition to its' potent control of glucose fluxes, another major action of insulin is to inhibit lipolysis, the breakdown of triglycerides into free fatty acids and glycerol. Adipocyte-derived circulating free fatty acids (FFA) are elevated in insulin-resistant states, and overall, have been suggested to contribute to the characteristic insulin resistance of diabetes and obesity via the inhibition of glycogen synthesis and glucose oxidation (160), and by increasing hepatic glucose output (11). In the liver, FFA increases gluconeogenesis, but under normal physiological conditions, hepatic autoregulation prevents an overall increase in hepatic GP; however, in type 2 diabetes, hepatic autoregulation is defective, which leads to an increase in GP in the presence of chronically elevated FFA (101).

Glucose regulates its hepatic metabolism via direct as well as indirect (through the action of hormones) mechanisms. In terms of the indirect mechanisms, glucose's most notable glucoregulatory action is its metabolism in the pancreatic β -cell, which is biochemically coupled to the secretion of insulin. Also, when blood glucose levels dip into the hypoglycemic range, there follows an activation of parasympathetic nerves which triggers a host of hormonal responses (123) – an inhibition of insulin release, as well as the secretion of epinephrine, growth hormone, glucagon, and cortisol – which aim at increasing both hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (21; 171; 204). With respect to the exact locus of glucose sensing responsible for coordinating this response, studies have established that the CNS holds an important position. In dogs, isolated brain hypoglycemia in the presence of peripheral euglycemia elicits a rapid counterregulatory response; conversely,

maintaining central euglycemia in the presence of peripheral hypoglycemia blunts this response (14). A few years later, similar bi-directional experimental designs revealed that this sensor is located in the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH) (16; 18).

Directly, glucose is able to stimulate its own uptake and utilization in a concentration-dependant manner, known as its "mass effect", in just about all tissues with exception of the brain (215). However, glucose is quite clearly less potent than insulin in stimulating glucose metabolism, as insulin's unique anti-lipolytic ability reduces the use of FFAs for energy production (131), thus reducing the competition for and enhancing glucose oxidation. As well, an acute elevation in circulating glucose is known to markedly suppress liver GP in both man (170) and rodents (163). This "glucose effectiveness", or the ability of glucose to regulate its own production, was found to occur by means of a suppression of glycogenolysis, and consistent with this there was a measured decrease in hepatic glycogen phosphorylase and increase in glycogen synthase activities (163).

Glucotoxicity

Glycemia is a critical physiological parameter to monitor, as persistent elevations in blood glucose levels can have a multi-pronged, feed-forward effect to disrupt glucose homeostasis. This includes impairing insulin secretion, diminishing insulin sensitivity, and disrupting glucose effectiveness. Partially pancreatectomized rats, which develop marked hyperglycemia and hypoinsulinemia, displayed impaired *in vivo* glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) in the presence of an acute elevation in plasma glucose levels (+100 mg/dL above baseline). However, when these diabetic rodents are treated with phlorizin, an inhibitor of renal glucose absorption that selectively lowers plasma glucose levels, this β -cell abnormality was corrected (165), demonstrating the deleterious role of sustained hyperglycemia *per se*, also known as "glucotoxicity" (164). What could be mediating this defect? It could be possibly due to a down-regulation of glucose transport, as the protein

levels of GLUT2 in the β -cells have been found to be markedly reduced in multiple diabetic models characterized by hyperglycemia and insulin deficiency, including Zucker fatty, BB, and STZ rodents (86; 140; 191). As well, extended hyperglycemia in man (214) as well in rodents (73) confers peripheral insulin resistance with a marked reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose utilization and glycogen synthesis.

As well, an acute increase in circulating glucose levels typically results in a marked suppression of GP in normal rodents, but in diabetic rodents, the GP rate remains elevated (163). However, it was shown with the use of T-1095, an orally bioavailable inhibitor of the sodium-dependent glucose transporter in the renal tubule, that the normalization of glycemia in diabetic rodents restored this regulation of GP (64). A similar impairment was also observed in humans with type 2 diabetes, where an increase in plasma glucose levels was unable to inhibit GP and stimulate peripheral glucose uptake, despite an overnight normalization of glycemic control treatment via insulinization prior to experimentation was able to restore this acute ability, even in individuals with prolonged poorly controlled diabetes (75). Thus, the normalization of glycemia appears to be sufficient to rescue the glucotoxicity-induced impairments on glucose homeostasis.

-- -- --

The various hormonal and other signals elicited by a nutrient load (hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, suppression of glucagon secretion) (34) act in concert to suppress endogenous glucose production efficiently in normal subjects. This suppression is markedly impaired in patients with NIDDM and is the predominant cause of postprandial hyperglycemia (48). Until recently, it was generally accepted that the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes primarily involves three organ systems: the liver, muscle, and adipose tissue. Defects across this triumvirate are proposed to work with each other to initiate and

progress the disorders in glucose as well as lipid homeostasis (47). Initial defects in insulin release could result in a disruption in glucose homeostasis via the decreased suppression of hepatic glucose production and reduced glucose uptake by muscle and fat. In this setting of diminished insulin effectiveness lipolysis is also promoted. Collectively, the chronic increase in FFAs and glucose can be deleterious and toxic to the health of the β -cell, eventually leading to the loss in β -cell number (28) and function (90) that is part and parcel with the progression of type 2 diabetes.

However, vast amounts of intriguing research that has amassed over the past decade in particular have revealed that a fourth organ be added to that list of systems: the brain. This research will be thoroughly reviewed in the subsequent section, with an emphasis on central nutrient sensing and the fate of central homeostatic mechanisms in the face of metabolic disease. In this thesis, our aim in particular was to evaluate the yet-to-be tested effectiveness of central glucose and lactate sensing to regulate glucose homeostasis in metabolic disease.

CNS Regulation of Glucose Homeostasis

(Adapted from Chari et al. Physiology 24:159-70, 2009.)

The central nervous system (CNS) has been identified as a key regulator of whole body homeostasis, as it plays a fundamental role in regulation of the respiratory system, the circulatory system, digestion, thermoregulation, and energy expenditure, to name a few. Of the entire CNS, the hypothalamus in particular is generally accepted to mediate the day-today regulation of a number of physiological parameters including body temperature (69), blood pressure (71), thirst (6) and hunger (176), and is a fundamental structure for the integration of the endocrine and nervous systems.

The record of CNS control of glucose homeostasis began with the finding by Claude Bernard that punctures in the floor of the fourth ventricle results in glucosuria (12). However, the incredible growth in the field did not occur until over a century after Bernard's initial observation. Over the past decade, it has been demonstrated that the CNS senses A) hormones (40; 67; 80; 96; 97; 137), namely insulin, leptin, and glucagon-like peptide (GLP)-1, and B) nutrients (103; 136; 145), namely fatty acids and glucose, to regulate glucose homeostasis. As diabetes is characterized by hyperglycemia, the elucidation of defects in these hormone- and nutrient-sensing pathways in the hypothalamus that regulate glucose homeostasis will shed light on the central components that initiate and perpetuate this metabolic disease – and as such will serve as the basis of the following literature review. *This material is directly related to the studies that were performed in this thesis, which aimed to advance the literature on central nutrient-sensing mechanisms in various models of metabolic disease.*

CNS Hormone Action

Insulin

In the past decade, the action of insulin had been uncovered to extend beyond the periphery, when neuron-specific insulin receptor disrupted (NIRKO) mice were found to develop mild insulin resistance and elevated plasma insulin levels in association with obesity (24). This was the first demonstration that neuronal insulin signaling regulates peripheral glucose homeostasis. Indeed, it was subsequently shown that intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) infusion of insulin or its mimetic into the third ventricle suppressed hepatic GP independent of alterations in body weight or changes in circulating levels of glucoregulatory hormones (137). In the same study, antagonizing insulin or its downstream signaling pathway in the brain, including the insulin receptor (IR) and Pl₃K, impaired the ability of an acute elevation circulating insulin to suppress GP. Furthermore, decreasing IR expression selectively in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus elicited insulin resistance in rats (135), paralleling the finding in NIRKO mice (24). With respect to downstream insulinsignalling effectors, the hypothalamic overexpression of IRS-2, which is highly detectable in the hypothalamus including the ARC (144), and PKB/Akt via adenoviral gene therapy significantly improved the glycemic response to an insulin injection in diabetic rodents (67). And while constitutively active IRS-2 in the hypothalamus improved insulin sensitivity (67), insulin resistance develops in mice with a selective brain IRS-2 knockout (188). Collectively, these findings recognized the CNS as a site of insulin action, and implied the criticality of an intact insulin signaling cascade, involving the binding of insulin to its receptor and the subsequent activation of IRS, PI₃K and PKB, in regulating glucose homeostasis (Figure 2a).

The ability of central insulin signaling to regulate peripheral glucose homeostasis appears to involve the activation of hypothalamic K_{ATP} channels. The GP-lowering effect of systemic or central insulin administration was abolished by the i.c.v. administration of the

sulfonylurea glibenclamide, which is a K_{ATP} channel blocker (137; 153). As well, hepatic branch vagotomy and selective vagal deafferentation indicated that the CNS-liver circuit requires efferent vagal fibres (153), and that it ultimately triggers an interleukin (IL)-6/ signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT)-3 signaling cascade in the liver to lower GP (80). It remains to be ascertained how the insulin signalling cascade (i.e. IR \rightarrow IRS- $2 \rightarrow PI_3K \rightarrow PKB$) leads to the activation of K_{ATP} channels in the hypothalamus, but the involvement of phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP₃) has been postulated. *In vitro*, PIP₃ directly activates K_{ATP} channels (113) and more significantly, the constitutive activation of PI₃K-PIP₃ signalling in pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons increase K_{ATP} channel conductance, which hyperpolarizes neurons to result in a hyperphagic phenotype (152) (**Figure 2a**).

SUR1/Kir6.2 K_{ATP} channels, which are characteristically found in pancreatic β -cells (3) and are critical in triggering insulin secretion, are also found in hypothalamic ARC neurons known to control energy and glucose homeostasis (51). The ARC contains an array of neuronal subtypes that are involved in the regulation of energy and nutrient homeostasis, of which two are most extensively studied. One subtype is POMC neurons, which express the anorexigenic products of the peptide. POMC is post-translationally cleaved to a series of smaller peptides; of note is α -melanocyte stimulating hormone (α -MSH), which inhibits feeding by binding the melanocortin receptor 4 (MC4R) (178). Belonging to the second subtype are neurons that co-express the orexigenic peptides agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and neuropeptide Y (NPY). The activation of these orexigenic neurons stimulate feeding by increasing NPY/AgRP signaling (176), and leads to a two-fold inhibition of anorexigenic signaling: directly synapsing with POMC neurons and competitive binding of AgRP to the α -MSH binding site at MC4R, collectively antagonizing POMC's anorexigenic effects. The interplay between these anorexigenic and orexigenic neuronal subsets and their downstream effector signalling form the melanocortin signalling system,

and it is the activation of this "hypothalamic melanocortin tone" (37) that is thought to be instrumental in the regulation of energy and glucose homeostasis.

Indeed, the i.c.v. infusion of NPY precludes the inhibition of GP elicited by circulating insulin, suggesting that the down-regulation of NPY release is likely a prerequisite for insulin's complete ability to suppress hepatic GP (196). Moreover, it was shown via the knockout of IR in specific neuronal subtypes that only in AgRP-IR knockout mice, and not POMC-IR knockout mice, did an elevation in circulating insulin fail to suppress hepatic GP and stimulate hepatic IL-6 expression independent of changes in energy homeostasis (99). In line with this, i.c.v. MC3/4R antagonist infusion did not alter the effect of circulating insulin to inhibit hepatic GP (137). Together, these data suggest that insulin operates on a melanocortin-independent pathway, signaling through NPY/AgRP and not POMC neurons, to regulate hepatic GP (Figure 2a).

However, the results of brain insulin action studies completed in other species reveals a controversy as to whether direct or indirect (i.e. hypothalamic) insulin signaling on the liver dominate in the maintenance of glucose homeostasis. Using a normal dog model, Alan Cherrington's group demonstrated that a 4-fold rise in head insulin with the use of an intracarotid infusion failed to suppress net hepatic glucose output. In fact, a significant increase in endogenous GP was observed versus dogs receiving peripheral or portal insulin during the clamp (54). This increase is consistent with a previous finding from the same group, where a physiological increase in blood-borne insulin was thought to *augment* the counterregulatory response to hypoglycemia. In that study, despite equivalent peripheral insulinemia and hypoglycemia, the infusion of head insulin let to an increase in glucagon, cortisol and epinephrine levels along with an increase in hepatic glucose production versus peripheral insulin infusion (45). These findings contrast with an earlier study by a different group revealing that the direct i.c.v. administration of insulin in mongrel dogs actually *lowered* blood glucose levels and produced sustained hypoglycemia (2).

Leptin

As with insulin, the discovery of leptin (218) was indeed another milestone in the field of obesity and diabetes research. It is well-documented that this adipose tissuederived hormone, which acts largely in the CNS (176), holds a critical role in the regulation of both energy and glucose homeostasis. In both rodents and humans, deficiency in leptin or its functional receptors leads to profound obesity and insulin resistance (4; 36; 63). Leptin replacement improves glucose homeostasis but this was initially attributed as secondary to reduced adiposity and feeding (29; 74; 149); however, later observations strongly suggest that leptin can also regulate glucose homeostasis independent of its effects on adiposity. A chronic increase in plasma leptin, independent of changes in weight, enhances both insulin sensitivity and glucose disposal in lipodystropic rodents (53; 180). Accordingly, another study found that leptin-treated ob/ob mice had a 40% reduction in glucose and insulin levels compared to pair-fed ob/ob mice (175). Direct stimulation of central leptin signalling also regulates glucose homeostasis. Of the various central loci, the hypothalamic ARC has been highlighted as the key CNS site for leptin's effects on glucose homeostasis, as the selective restoration of leptin receptors in the ARC of leptin receptordeficient Koletsky (fa^{k}/fa^{k}) rats improved insulin sensitivity (126).

It is now known that leptin, upon binding to its receptor in the ARC, activates two independent intracellular signaling pathways, which work in concert to regulate glucose homeostasis (Figure 2b). The first of the two is the well-established STAT3-dependent pathway, whereby leptin upon binding its' receptor activates Janus kinase 2 (Jak2), leading to the phosphorylation of cytoplasmic targets such as STAT3. Indeed, s/s mice, having lifelong obliteration in leptin-STAT3 due to a leptin receptor mutation, were found to be severely hepatic insulin resistant (25). The same study pharmacologically and adenovirally knocked-down central STAT3 activity to demonstrate that the GP-suppressing ability of i.c.v. leptin in overfed rats was nullified (25). As well, the inactivation or deficiency of a negative

regulator of the JAK-STAT pathway, suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 3, in selective brain regions was able to improve leptin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis (96; 216).

While this STAT3-dependent pathway is imperative, it may not be the sole mediator of CNS leptin's control of glucose homeostasis. Knowing that the activation of hypothalamic Pl₃K is necessary for leptin, as well as insulin, to reduce food intake (128), it seems that the binding of leptin to its receptor to activate Pl₃K and ultimately regulate glucose homeostasis is likely. Indeed, the intrahypothalamic infusion of a Pl₃K inhibitor blunted the aforementioned improvement in insulin sensitivity elicited by restoration of functional ARC leptin receptors in leptin receptor deficient fa^k/fa^k rats (126), suggesting that hypothalamic leptin activates Pl₃K to regulate glucose homeostasis. However, it is highly plausible that this activation of Pl₃K by leptin to regulate glucose homeostasis is a pathway that is only relevant to certain neuron subtypes, as leptin activates Pl₃K in POMC but not NPY/AgRP neurons (213), while insulin signaling in AgRP but not POMC neurons regulates glucose homeostasis (99). Consistent with this view, POMC-specific deletion of SOCS3 enhances leptin sensitivity and improves glucose homeostasis (96). Nevertheless, the role of the downstream effectors of the leptin-Pl₃K signaling cascade that regulate glucose homeostasis remains to be elucidated.

Glucagon-Like Peptide 1

GLP-1, a potent hormone that is a mediator of the incretin effect, is secreted by the L-cells of the intestines (199) and discrete populations of neurons (85). Traditionally, this gut hormone is thought to regulate glucose homeostasis via directly acting on the β -cells to stimulate insulin secretion and biosynthesis, promote β -cell growth, and decrease glucagon secretion (50). GLP-1 also potently acts centrally to regulate food intake (194). However, emerging studies are hinting at the ability of central GLP-1 action to regulate peripheral

glucose homeostasis. Of note, with the use of GLP-1 antagonist and agonists administered i.c.v., it was found that CNS GLP-1 signaling is involved in regulating insulin secretion (97). Enhanced insulin secretion and an improved glucose disposal profile with direct i.c.v. GLP-1 administration were also determined with an i.v. glucose tolerance test (173).

GLP-1 receptor mRNA is detected widely across brain regions including, but not limited to, the hippocampus, the hindbrain and hypothalamic nuclei such as the ARC and PVN (119). Of these, the PVN and hindbrain in particular are known to mediate the anorectic effect of CNS GLP-1 action (70; 118; 194). Interestingly, while GLP-1 receptors are found in the ARC but are not involved in the regulation of food intake, they do mediate GLP-1's glucoregulatory action (173) (Figure 2c). Administration of GLP-1 directly into the ARC lowers hepatic GP, a phenomenon not reproducible with direct GLP-1 administration into the PVN, where the anorectic effect is activated (173). To date, how the mechanism(s) behind CNS GLP-1 regulation of glucose homeostasis are yet to be clarified; however, the activation of K_{ATP} channels represents a possible candidate as the co-infusion of glibenclamide prevented the GLP-1-induced suppression of GP (173). Furthermore, this effect of central GLP-1 appears to be POMC neuron-mediated as GLP-1 receptors largely co-localizes with POMC, and not NPY/AgRP neurons, in the ARC (173).

In essence, peripherally-derived hormones such as insulin, leptin and GLP-1 have been repeatedly demonstrated to act on their respective receptors in the CNS and exert their glucoregulatory effects via what seem to be distinct signaling pathways, perhaps converging at some downstream candidate(s). As mentioned earlier, the activation of K_{ATP} channels presents as a likely candidate, as not only is it a required step in the action of central insulin as well as GLP-1, but also in central *nutrient* sensing mechanisms which

-- -- --

regulate hepatic GP, which have been the focus of this thesis. *The relevant literature on central nutrient sensing will be reviewed in the following section.*



Figure 2. Hypothalamic Hormone Signaling Pathways Regulating Glucose Homeostasis.

(a) Insulin binds its receptor, leading to the activation of IRS and PI_3K . PI_3K subsequently phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PIP_2) to generate PIP_3 , which in turn activates the SUR1/Kir6.2 K_{ATP} channels to alter signaling in neurons such as the NPY/AgRP neuron. Via a melanocortin-independent pathway which is ultimately relayed through the vagal afferent nerve, hepatic glucose production (GP) is decreased. (b) Leptin, upon binding to the long form of the leptin receptor activates two distinct pathways: (1) activation of the JAK/STAT3 pathway and (2) activation of PI_3K . Together, these signaling cascades lead to an increase in POMC neuron activity, which triggers a decrease in hepatic GP. (c) More recently, GLP-1 action in the arcuate nucleus has been shown to decrease hepatic glucose production, likely through SUR1/Kir6.2 K_{ATP} channel-dependent mechanisms in POMC neurons.

CNS Nutrient Sensing

In addition to processing input from hormones, the hypothalamus senses nutrients to initiate metabolic responses to regulate energy (41; 44; 100; 121; 136; 209) and nutrient (102; 103; 136) homeostasis. Proposing a role of "nutrient sensing", i.e. the acute accumulation of nutrients, *per se* in the regulation of homeostasis was not a recent development. In fact over 50 years ago, the glucostatic (115) and lipostatic (95) hypotheses proposed that circulating nutrients generated in proportionate amounts to storage depots serve as signals to the brain to initiate alterations in energy intake and expenditure. However, only recently has the notion of direct hypothalamic nutrient sensing become a thoroughly demonstrated and credible means of controlling glucose homeostasis.

Glucose

An important source of energy for the majority of mammalian cell types, glucose is particularly vital for the brain where it is essentially the sole substrate for energy metabolism. The discovery of glucose sensing neurons in satiety and feeding centres of the hypothalamus (5; 139) hinted at potential physiological roles of central glucose utilization (108) beyond serving as a fuel. Indeed, since those seminal studies, central glucose sensing/metabolism has been established to be an essential component in the regulation of feeding (13; 44; 122) and the hypoglycemic counter-regulatory response (16; 18). Recent work has also suggested a direct link between central glucose sensing and the regulation of peripheral glucose levels.

Specifically, an acute increase in central glucose resulted in a decrease in blood glucose and insulin levels, and a suppression of hepatic glucose production; this occurred via a curtailing of both gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis (103). The metabolic fate of brain glucose has been largely clarified by the proposal of the astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle (148), which is supported by observations that neuronal activity is coupled to glucose utilization (94; 147; 168; 202) and that neurons preferentially utilize glial glucosederived lactate as an oxidative fuel (114). Indeed, the infusion of i.c.v. lactate was able to recapitulate the effects of central glucose on blood glucose levels and hepatic GP (103). However, the effects of both i.c.v. lactate and glucose were nullified when co-infused with oxamate, an inhibitor of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity (103), which antagonizes the preferentially lactate-generating LDH-A (the muscle isoform that, within the brain, is expressed exclusively in the glial cells (15)) and the preferentially pyruvate-generating downstream LDH-B (the heart isoform, and the only isoform found in neurons (15)) (22). This finding suggests that metabolism of glucose to lactate and subsequently pyruvate in the hypothalamus is an essential biochemical step in the regulation of glucose homeostasis (Figure 3). Furthering this notion is the suppression of GP resulting from the hypothalamic administration of dichloroacetate (DCA) (103), which ultimately promotes the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl-CoA via the inhibition of PDH kinase, in turn activating PDH (82).

As discussed earlier, an acute elevation in circulating glucose is known to markedly suppress liver GP (120; 163; 192). When plasma glucose levels were doubled in the presence of a concurrent intrahypothalamic infusion of oxamate, this inhibitory action of acute hyperglycemia on GP was blunted by 40% (103), revealing that the activation of hypothalamic lactate metabolism is a critical component of the effectiveness of glucose *per se*. Circulating lactate has also been demonstrated to regulate hepatic glucose fluxes (84), and it was recently shown that the inhibition of either hypothalamic LDH or K_{ATP} channels during a physiological increase in circulating lactate led to an increase in hepatic GP (98). *As such, the activation of central glucose and lactate sensing mechanisms is proven to be important in the regulation of GP in normal rodents – however, the effectiveness of these nutrient sensing mechanisms in settings of metabolic stress has yet to be determined.*

Few articles to-date have looked at glucose sensing in specific neuronal cell types. Of particular note, operating on the proposal that glucose sensing in the anorexigenic POMC neurons of the hypothalamus mechanistically mimics that of the pancreatic β -cell, it was recently demonstrated that the POMC neuron-specific expression of a mutated KATP channel subunit Kir6.2 was sufficient to impair glucose homeostasis, as determined by an oral glucose tolerance test (145). Furthermore, electrophysiological analyses determined that a high-fat diet was able to impair glucose sensing by POMC neurons, and this impairment was linked to an upregulation in the mitochondrial uncoupling protein UCP2 (145). The discovery of hypothalamic AMPK activity as a critical integrator of nutrient and hormonal sensing in the regulation of energy homeostasis (121) warranted an examination into precise neuronal cell types and mechanisms involved, and to do this, Dominic Withers and colleagues generated mice that were AMPK-deficient in either the orexigenic agouti-related protein (AgRP) or anorexigenic POMC neurons (35). Here, electrophysiological studies revealed absent responses to alterations in extracellular glucose in AMPK-deficient AgRP as well as POMC neurons. However, both of the AMPK-deficient neuron populations responded normally to insulin or leptin action (35), potentially complicating the notion of a convergence of hypothalamic nutrient and hormonal signaling mechanisms.

However, one must exercise caution when extrapolating the cellular findings from the above two studies, as the glucose concentrations used in the electrophysiology of these studies far exceed hypothalamic glucose range, which is typically at 0.7-2.5 mM and thus only 15-30% of blood glucose levels (169; 181). As such, this limits the physiological impact of this recent work. Furthermore, the study by Withers and colleagues uses a subset of AgRP neurons which are glucose-responsive (i.e. glucose-excited), which is against the general consensus of the orexigenic AgRP/NPY neurons being by and large glucose-sensitive (i.e. glucose-inhibited) (27; 59; 127).

Fatty Acids

During the fasted state, fatty acids are primarily released as a means to provide an energy source for the body while conserving the glucose for neurons, which depend on carbohydrates as an energy source. The brain does not, to our knowledge, use fatty acids as a primary source of energy. However, they likely serve as a signal of nutrient abundance. Indeed, it has been demonstrated recently that select enzymes and intermediates of fatty acid metabolism contribute to the hypothalamus' ability to regulate glucose homeostasis (Figure 3). In 2002, it was first demonstrated that the administration of LCFAs into the third cerebral ventricle triggers a neural pathway to regulate energy as well as glucose homeostasis. Of note, these rodents treated with i.c.v. oleic acid had lower plasma insulin and glucose levels indicating enhanced insulin sensitivity; with the use of a basal insulin pancreatic clamp this was confirmed, as i.c.v. oleic acid was found to markedly suppress hepatic GP (136). Interestingly, the infusion of the medium-chain fatty acid octanoic acid did not yield the same results, revealing specificity in the nature of the hypothalamic nutrient signal (136). The i.c.v. co-administration of the K_{ATP} channel blocker glibenclamide with oleic acid was able to nullify the GP-lowering effect of i.c.v. oleic acid alone (136). Moreover, this was in line with a later study demonstrating that hypothalamic K_{ATP} channel activity per se can regulate GP (153).

Based on the aforementioned observation that i.c.v. oleic acid but not octanoic acid, a medium-chain fatty acid which does not require CPT-1 for mitochondrial entry (136), has suppressive effects on GP, it was then tested if central CPT-1 activity-mediated changes in cytosolic long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) can recapitulate the effects observed with i.c.v. administered LCFAs (Figure 3). With the use of a CPT-1 ribozyme as well as pharmacological CPT-1 inhibitors, it was found that a decrease in CPT-1 activity was sufficient to lead to an increase in the concentration of LCFA-CoAs and, as a result, elicit a substantial suppression

of GP (134). Thus, the regulatory effects of cellular fatty acids in the hypothalamus are extramitochondrial and are likely cytosolic (Figure 3).

The activity of CPT-1 is regulated by malonyl-CoA, which is generated from acetyl-CoA by ACC as the committed step of *de novo* fatty acid generation (203). Numerous studies have revealed a role of hypothalamic malonyl-CoA in the regulation of feeding and energy expenditure (32; 65; 76; 79; 109; 210), but to-date the application of the "malonyl-CoA hypothesis" to the regulation of glucose homeostasis remains limited. Citrate, an intermediate metabolite produced in the mitochondria in the citric acid cycle, is an allosteric effector of ACC activity; and it was recently demonstrated that i.c.v. citrate not only decreased food intake and body weight, but also resulted in lower blood glucose levels during a glucose tolerance test, increased glucose uptake during a hyperglycemiceuglycemic clamp, and increased liver glycogen synthesis (31). Thus, promoting the formation of hypothalamic malonyl-CoA is perhaps an important step in the regulation of glucose homeostasis.

Illustrating that circulating plasma fatty acids can access the brain and recapitulate the effect of central fatty acid sensing on glucose homeostasis should undoubtedly further its physiological relevance. Indeed, when an i.c.v. infusion of a K_{ATP} channel blocker was administered during an intravenous lipid infusion, there was a significant elevation in glucose production, which was attributed to an increase in glycogenolysis (104). The results of these pharmacological findings were confirmed with a genetic approach using mice deficient in the K_{ATP} channel subunit Sur1 (104). Pharmacological inhibition of hypothalamic acyl-CoA synthetases (ACS) by triacsin C, as well as a hepatic branch vagotomy negated the effects of circulating lipids on GP (104). Taken together, the study illustrates that circulating LCFAs can regulate glucose homeostasis via a hypothalamically-triggered mechanism that is dependent on 1) the esterification of LCFAs to LCFA-CoAs, 2) functional K_{ATP} channels and 3) neural transmission via the vagus nerve. Additionally, overexpressing malonyl-CoA

decarboxylase (MCD) in the hypothalamus of rodents negates the ability of circulating lipids to regulate glucose homeostasis (76). In accordance with the fatty acid sensing hypothesis, these rats not only had a marked reduction in hypothalamic malonyl-coA levels, but also a concomitant decrease in LCFA-CoA abundance (76). Recently, we have demonstrated that this increase in circulating lipids lowers glucose production via a hypothalamic protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent mechanism (162). Furthermore, the pharmacological activation of hypothalamic PKC was sufficient to lower hepatic GP, an effect which was nullified with the pharmacological or molecular disruption of hypothalamic K_{ATP} channels (162). Altogether, these results support the notion that the activation of hypothalamic PKC is necessary for central lipid sensing mechanisms to lower GP via the K_{ATP} channel-dependent pathway **(Figure 3)**.

Amino Acids

Recent studies have pushed for a physiological role of central amino acid sensing. The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a regulator of cell growth, and much like AMPK, it is a cellular energy sensor whose kinase activity varies with nutritional status (195). Its activity is sensitive to various nutrients, including glucose and some fatty acids and particularly the branched-chain amino acid leucine (211); indeed, when a low-dose of leucine was administered into the third cerebral ventricle of rodents, leading to the activation of mTOR signaling, a marked decrease in short-term food intake and body weight was observed (41). This leucine-mediated anorectic effect was nullified when hypothalamic mTOR activity was inhibited via rapamycin treatment (41). The anorectic effects mediated by central leucine administration correlated with an increase in the phosphorylation of S6 kinase (S6K), an effector of mTOR activity, in the hypothalamus (41); these effects were confirmed in a recent study in a dose-dependent manner (161). However, the role of central amino acid sensing *per se* in controlling circulating glucose levels remains unknown;

as such, evaluating the possibility for amino acids to regulate glucose homeostasis and determining whether this regulation occurs via mTOR pathway-dependent or -independent mechanisms remains an utmost priority.

-- -- --

The metabolism of different nutrients in the hypothalamus, particularly that of glucose and fatty acids, serves roles of polarizing importance with respect to fueling local energy supply for the brain. But when it comes to maintenance of whole-body homeostasis, however, these nutrients appear to form a united front and collectively serve as a nutrient surfeit signal, activating hypothalamic pathways which ultimately initiate the CNS-mediated regulation of glucose homeostasis (Figure 3). LCFA-CoA and malonyl-CoA have emerged as the molecules of focus which are poised to integrate the activation of glucose and fatty acid sensing mechanisms in the hypothalamus. However, the extent to which hypothalamic nutrient-sensing pathways interacts with those of the previously detailed hormone-sensing is uncertain. As such, the integration and co-dependence of central nutrient and hormone sensing pathways remains an area of interest that is open to further scrutiny. *The studies proposed and completed in this thesis aim to add to the growing literature and provide further insight into the nature and effectiveness of central nutrient sensing mechanisms.*



Figure 3. Glucose and Fatty Acid Sensing Mechanisms in the Hypothalamus

Glucose is taken up astrocytes where it is glycolytically metabolized to pyruvate. In astrocytes, pyruvate is preferentially converted to L-lactate by lactate dehydrogenase A (LDH-A). Lactate is then taken up by neurons and is preferentially converted back to pyruvate by means of LDH-B. Finally, pyruvate is converted to acetyl-CoA by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH). (Inset) Extracellular long chain fatty acids (LCFAs) are immediately esterified to LCFA-CoAs upon entry into cells via acyl-CoA synthetases (ACS), and LCFA-CoAs gain access to the mitochondria to undergo β -oxidation via the acyltransferase carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 (CPT-1), located on the outer mitochondrial membrane. Cellular fat oxidation is regulated by the availability of malonyl-CoA, which potently inhibits CPT-1 activity. Malonyl-CoA, in turn, is mainly derived from acetyl-CoA via the enzyme acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), which marks a point of convergence between glucose and fatty acid sensing mechanisms. Finally, ACC is allosterically inhibited by AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)-mediated phosphorylation. The increased flux through both hypothalamic glucose and fatty acid metabolism has been shown to lower hepatic glucose production via a K_{ATP} channel-dependent mechanism.

Implications for Diabetes and Obesity

The numerous studies outlined thus far have been instrumental in advancing the importance of brain, in particular the hypothalamus, in processing acute changes in hormonal signaling and nutrient availability and triggering a neuronal circuit to regulate glucose homeostasis. When it comes to this homeostatic regulation in the face of metabolic disease characterized by nutrient excess and/or dysregulated hormone action, experimental evidence, in general, points to a decreased effectiveness of this circuitry.

In mice that are genetically obese and lack functional leptin (ob/ob), the administration of leptin potently reverses obesity, lowering their food intake and body weight, and normalizing plasma glucose and insulin levels (149). However, leptin levels in obese humans (38) and obese and/or overfed rodent models (62) are paradoxically elevated. Leptin's effects are largely carried out in the brain (176), and experimental findings are consistent with the notion of impaired leptin access to the brain being a key component of leptin resistance. After chronic high-fat diet feeding, food intake and body weight become resistant to peripherally administered leptin. However, a single bolus of i.c.v. leptin in these mice maintained its robust suppressive effects on these parameters (197). Additionally, when 3-day overfed rodents received i.c.v leptin, there was a marked inhibition of glucose production (155). However, there is an upper limit to circumventing the resistance to peripherally-administered leptin via direct i.c.v. leptin administration, as during the course of chronic overfeeding the extent of hypothalamic STAT3 activation by both peripheral and i.c.v. leptin administration diminishes (57). Protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 B (PTP1B) has been shown to be involved in the blockade of leptin signalling, and indeed, neuron-specific PTP1B knockout mice on a chronic high-fat diet had lower fed blood glucose and serum insulin levels, and as such displayed improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance (9). This finding was paralleled by a recent study which demonstrated
that the neuron-specific knockout of SOCS3, another suppressor of a leptin-signalling pathway (JAK-STAT), were resistant to chronic high-fat diet-induced weight gain and hyperleptinemia, and were more insulin sensitive as measured by glucose- and insulin-tolerance tests (125), observations that were similarly seen in mice with a haplosufficiency in whole-body SOCS3 that were maintained on a high-fat diet (78).

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, the cellular condition generally characterized by a disruption in protein synthesis and processing, and the subsequent activation of the compensatory unfolded protein response (UPR) has been demonstrated to hold an important role in the progression of obesity-induced peripheral insulin resistance and the establishment of type 2 diabetes (142). Very recently, it has been shown that mice on a chronic high-fat diet developed ER stress and subsequent UPR activation in the hypothalamus, and when mice were administered i.c.v. tunicamycin to selectively induce ER stress in the hypothalamus, leptin-induced hypothalamic STAT3 phosphorylation was abolished (141). XBP1 is a transcription factor that is activated in the UPR and upregulates genes encoding, among others proteins, ER chaperones which assist in protein folding and trafficking to combat ER stress. Indeed, mice displaying a neuron-specific knockout of XBP1 and placed on a high-fat diet exhibited hyperleptinemia, hyperinsulinemia and elevated fasted blood glucose (141). Additionally, these neuronal XBP1-deficient rodents had diminished glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity (141). Overnutrition-induced hypothalamic ER stress has also been shown to activate a mediator of metabolic inflammation, IKKβ/NF-κB (217). This study also demonstrated that mice which had constitutively active IKKB in the MBH impaired the 1) activation of Akt and the generation of PIP₃ in response to i.c.v. insulin, and 2) the phosphorylation of STAT3 in response to i.c.v. leptin. Furthermore, the suppressive effects of i.c.v. insulin and leptin on short-term food intake was blunted in these mice (217). Thus, the activation of IKK β /NF- κ B in the MBH causes both central leptin as well as central insulin resistance.

Furthering the role of central insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of diabetes, it was determined that hypothalamic insulin signalling via the PI₃K pathway was markedly reduced in rodents with STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes (67). Furthermore, enhancing PI₃K signaling via adenoviral gene therapy was found to enhance the ability of peripherally-administered insulin to lower glucose levels, while pharmacological inhibition of hypothalamic PI₃K signalling blunted insulin-mediated glucose lowering (67). In normal rodents, the infusion of i.c.v. insulin lowers glucose production (137) However, this regulatory ability of hypothalamic insulin was lost after merely one day of high-fat feeding (138). The diminished phosphorylation of hypothalamic Akt and unchanged hepatic insulin resistance (138). Furthermore, these rodents had significantly increased S6K activity, and the adenoviral overexpression of dominant negative S6K in the MBH was able to reverse the observed hypothalamic insulin resistance in the high-fat diet-fed rats, restoring the ability of hypothalamic insulin to suppress GP (138).

LCFAs serve as a central signal of nutrient abundance, in turn triggering the series of neuronal signalling cascades necessary to regulate nutrient intake and production. Shortly after the effects of i.c.v. oleic acid were published, it was then evaluated whether short term alterations in nutrient availability affect the ability of central oleic acid to regulate energy and glucose homeostasis. In rats which overfed on a 3-day high fat diet, an i.c.v. oleic acid bolus was unable to not only inhibit food intake, but also suppress glucose production under conditions of a pancreatic basal insulin clamp; interestingly, by pairfeeding rats on the high-fat diet the ability of i.c.v. oleic acid to suppress hepatic GP was restored (124). This provides compelling evidence that the hypothalamic responses triggered by an acute increase in central LCFAs are nutritionally regulated, and along with the aforementioned hypothalamic insulin resistance that developed in rodents fed a highfat diet for one day (138) presents a startling reality in terms of how rapidly intrinsic

homeostatic mechanisms can fail. As the rise in central LCFA-CoAs is a critical initiator of the fatty acid-mediated homeostatic regulation, the authors specifically postulated that the increase in lipid availability by overfeeding fails to translate into this increase in the intracellular pool of LCFA-CoA (154). This was indeed the case, as when a systemic lipid emulsion designed to double plasma LCFAs and hypothalamic LCFA-CoAs (104) was administered to overfed rats, the circulating lipids failed to increase hypothalamic LCFA-CoAs (154). An impeded blood-brain barrier LCFA transport cannot account for this effect, as no increase in hypothalamic LCFA-CoAs was also observed in overfed rats when oleic acid was directly infused intrahypothalamically (154). Hypothalamic CPT1 activity was significantly increased in the overfed rats, and remarkably, by hypothalamically inhibiting CPT1 activity or expression, the authors were able to suppress food intake as well as GP in overfed rodents (154). Thus, inhibiting hypothalamic lipid oxidation via the inhibition of CPT1 hyperactivity is sufficient to restore energy balance as well as glucose homeostasis in overfed rodents.

But interestingly, not all central nutrient sensing mechanisms are disrupted in models of metabolic disease. We recently demonstrated that the activation of hypothalamic PKC in the hypothalamus, a necessary mediator of hypothalamic lipid sensing to regulate glucose homeostasis, was sufficient to suppress hepatic GP in a 3-day overfed rodent model (162) in which hypothalamic lipid sensing *per se* was shown to be impaired (124).

To date, the effectiveness of hypothalamic glucose or lactate metabolism on the regulation of glucose homeostasis in models of diabetes or obesity has yet to be assessed. As described earlier, the acute infusion of glucose, as well as lactate, is able to serve as a signal of nutrient surfeit in the hypothalamus and trigger a circuitry to lower hepatic glucose production and plasma glucose levels in normal rodents (103). With the studies outlined in this thesis, we are, to our knowledge, making the first attempt to flesh out these hypothalamic nutrient-sensing mechanisms in multiple models of metabolic disease.

GENERAL HYPOTHESIS

The overall aim of this project is to evaluate CNS nutrient sensing (specifically that of glucose and its downstream metabolite lactate) in multiple metabolic disease models including diabetes, selective hyperglycemia, and insulin deficiency/resistance.

It has been previously shown that the direct administration of central and hypothalamic glucose can lower plasma glucose levels by means of inhibiting hepatic glucose production. By means of a facilitated transport system, circulating glucose can cross the blood brain barrier and readily gain central access. As a result, changes in blood glucose concentration result in corresponding changes in brain glucose concentration. The establishment of hyperglycemia in diabetes implies that glucose is unable to access or trigger the hypothalamic signal to lower glucose production that has been characterized in the normal, healthy setting. *We hypothesized that CNS glucose sensing to lower glucose production is impaired in diabetes*.

The chronic hyperglycemia observed in uncontrolled diabetes has established peripheral glucotoxic effects (i.e. that of elevated glucose *per se*), including insulin resistance, impaired GSIS, and an inability of circulating glucose to inhibit glucose production. Via the normalization of glucose levels, it has been shown that the latter impairment can be rescued in diabetes. *We hypothesized in this project that glucotoxicity in the hypothalamus is, in part, responsible for the impairment of the CNS glucose sensing effect in uncontrolled diabetes.*

EXPERIMENTAL OBJECTIVES

* The treatment groups listed below have been evaluated for their effects on central (i.c.v.) and/or hypothalamic (i.h.) nutrient sensing with the use of the tracer (3-[³H]glucose)-dilution methodology to assess in vivo glucose kinetics.

Study I – CNS Lactate Sensing in Metabolic Disease

- i) Direct administration of intracerebroventricular (third ventricle; i.c.v.) lactate (5mM) into STZ-diabetic rats to evaluate whether its ability to lower GP in normal rodents is effective in this model of early-onset uncontrolled diabetes.
- ii) Subsequent administration of i.c.v lactate into experimentally-induced, selective model of hypoinsulinemia in the absence of hyperglycemia, as well as into high fat diet-induced insulin resistant rats to further examine the requirement for basal insulin levels/signaling for central lactate sensing to regulate GP.

Study II – Glucotoxicity and CNS Glucose Sensing

- i) Direct administration of intracerebroventricular (third ventricle; i.c.v.) glucose (2mM) into STZ-diabetic rats to evaluate whether its ability to lower GP in normal rodents is effective in this model of early-onset uncontrolled diabetes.
- Recapitulating the impairment of CNS glucose sensing in an alternative model of whole-body glucotoxicity via a 24 h infusion of intravenous (i.v.) glucose (37.5%) to elevate blood glucose levels > 18 mM, as well as in a model of hypothalamic glucotoxicity via a 24 h infusion of i.h. glucose (4 mM). The effects of i.h. glucose on GP will be assessed.
- iii) Administration of i.h. glucose (2 mM) to STZ-diabetic rats whose plasma glucose levels have been normalized via i.v. phlorizin treatment for a duration similar to the exposure of hyperglycemia in untreated STZ-rats. With this treatment, can CNS glucose sensing be restored in uncontrolled diabetes?

GENERAL METHODS AND MATERIALS

<u>Animals</u>

We studied 8-week-old male Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River Laboratories, Montreal, QC) weighing 250-300g. Rats were housed in individual cages, subjected to a standard lightdark cycle, and were maintained on a regular chow Teklad 6% Mouse/Rat diet (#7002; Harlan Laboratories), unless otherwise stated, and had *ad libitum* access to distilled water. Recovery between surgical procedures was monitored by measuring daily food intake and body weight gain in the days preceding the infusion procedure. To ensure comparable postasbsorptive nutritional status, rats were limited to 20 g of food the day prior to experimentation. All studies were performed in conscious, unrestrained and unstressed rats. Further, all study protocols were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University Health Network (Toronto, ON).

Central and Hypothalamic Cannulations

At least ten days before the in vivo study, rats were implanted with a chronic catheter placed into the third cerebral ventricle (i.c.v.) or intrahypothalamically (i.h.) directly within the mediobasal hypothalamus (MBH). Rodents were anesthetized with a freshly made cocktail of ketamine (90 mg/kg Vetalar; Bioniche) and xylazine (10 mg/kg Rompun; Bayer) administered directly into the intraperitoneum (i.p.) and mounted into a stereotaxic apparatus (David Kopf Instruments, Model 900LS) with the ear bars set at 0.50 cm. For i.c.v. catheters, a 22-gauge stainless steel single guide cannula (C313G; Plastics One Inc., Roanoke, VA) was implanted into the third cerebral ventricle using the following

coordinates: 2.5 mm posterior from bregma (intersection between sagittal and coronal sutures) and 8.0 mm below the surface of the skull directly on the midsagittal suture. A dummy cannula (C313DC; Plastics One Inc.) was inserted to cap the guide cannula and prevent it from clogging. For i.h. catheters, a 26-gauge stainless steel bilateral guide cannula (C235G; Plastics One Inc.) was implanted into the mediobasal hypothalamus using the following coordinates: 3.1 mm posterior from bregma and 9.6 mm below the surface of the skull directly on the midsagittal suture. A bilateral dummy cannula (C235DC; Plastics One Inc.) was inserted to cap the guide cannula (C235DC; Plastics One Inc.) was inserted to cap the guide cannula and prevent clogging. The implanted i.c.v./ i.h. catheter was secured to the skull using instant adhesive (Loctite) and dental cement.



Figure 1 – Hypothalamic Administration and Nuclei. The coronal section (left) reveals the area of the brain that is targeted by the single intracerebroventricular (3rd ventricle) and bilateral intrahypothalamic (i.h.) cannulations. The i.c.v. cannula delivers substances into the base of the third cerebral ventricle, while the i.h. cannulae permits the more localized infusion of substances directly into the mediobasal hypothalamus (MBH) located at the base of the hypothalamus, which houses the arcuate nucleus (ARC). Other hypothalamic nuclei shown in the diagram (right) are the ventromedial nucleus (VMN), dorsomedial nucleus (DMN), lateral hypothalamus (LH) and the paraventricular nucleus (PVN).

Vascular Catheterization Surgery

After approximately one week after receiving the brain catheters, additional indwelling catheters were placed in the right internal jugular vein and left carotid artery for infusion and sampling purposes during the eventual *in vivo* procedures. Rodents were anesthetized with a freshly made cocktail of ketamine (90 mg/kg Vetalar; Bioniche) and xylazine (10 mg/kg Rompun; Bayer) administered directly into the intraperitoneum (i.p.). An ~1 inch

horizontal incision was made near the middle of the neck, while rodents were rested on their back, and the skin, fat, and connective tissue were cleared using blunt dissection. The right jugular vein was isolated and made taut with the use of 4-0 silk sutures and hemostat clamps. Micro-dissecting scissors were used to make an incision into the vessel, and a heparinzed saline-flushed catheter, made using 15 cm of polyethylene (PE-50) tubing capped with a 1.5 cm tip of silastic tubing, was inserted into the vessel. The catheter was advanced toward the superior vena cava, and a slight amount of negative pressure was applied using a heparinzed saline-filled syringe connected to the catheter to verify the withdrawing of venous blood. Silk sutures were double-knotted around the vessel to secure the catheter. The left common carotid artery was similarly isolated, cannulated and secured, with the catheter being advanced to the level of the aortic arch (2 cm). Using a hemostat and a 16-gauge syringe, the catheters were tunneled subcutaneously and externalized on the backside of the rats, between the shoulder blades. Excess polyethylene tubing was cut off and the catheters were flushed with a 10% heparin solution to facilitate catheter patency. Finally, the catheters were plugged with blunted pins, and secured to the animal using masking tape.

Biochemical Analysis

Plasma glucose concentrations were measured via the glucose oxidase method, using an Analox Glucose Analyser (Analox, London, UK). Blood samples are spun down in a benchtop centrifuge, and a 10 μ L plasma sample was pipetted into a solution which contains oxygen and glucose oxidase. The chemical reaction that is catalyzed by glucose oxidase (GOD) involves the oxidation of glucose to gluconic acid with the consumption of oxygen:

D-glucose +
$$O_2$$
 + H_2O \xrightarrow{GOD} gluconic acid + H_2O_2

GOD is highly specific for D-glucose with negligible cross-reactivity. Here, the maximum rate of oxygen consumption is directly proportional to the glucose concentration. The required oxygen is abstracted from the solution, and the resultant change in oxygen amount is monitored by an oxygen sensor. It is important to note that the reaction is sufficiently rapid to avoid any significant interference from atmospheric oxygen. The analyser was calibrated before use at the beginning of the day with the use of the 8.0 mM glucose standard in saturated benzoic acid. Given a 10 μ L plasma sample, this method assures linearity of the reaction to at least 30.0 mM (or 540 mg/dL).

Plasma glucose tracer ([3-³H]-glucose) specific activity was determined for each point by deproteinzing a 50 μ L plasma sample with a 1:1 ratio of ZnSO₄ and Ba(OH)₂, pelleting the precipitate via centrifugation (6 min @ 6000 rpm), and counting a 75 μ L aliquot of the supernatant, after the samples were evaporated, with a scintillation counter (Beckman Coulter LS6500). Prior to counting the samples, 7.0 mL of scintillation fluid (Budget-Solve; Research Products International, Mount Prospect, IL) was added to each sample vial.

Radioimmunoassays (RIA) were used to determine the plasma concentrations of insulin, glucagon and leptin (kits RI-13K, GL-32K, and RL-83K; Linco Research, St. Charles, MO). A radioimmunoassay system measures the concentration of a particular protein/antigen with the use of a specific antiserum to the antigen, a radioactive labeled (¹²⁵I in these kits) form of the antigen (tracer) to compete with cold antigen in the plasma sample, a means to separate unbound tracer from antibody-bound tracer, and an instrument to count the radioactivity.

A two-day protocol was utilized to determine plasma insulin concentrations (in $\eta g/mL$). A standard curve was determined using the provided insulin standards at 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 5.0, and 10.0 $\eta g/mL$ in duplicate. The ¹²⁵I-labelled insulin (50 μ L) and the rat insulin antibody (50 μ L) were added to these standards as well as the experimental plasma samples

(50 μ L) followed by vortexing and an overnight incubation at 4°C. It is important to note that the kit also exhibits a 100% specificity/selectivity for porcine insulin, which was exogenously provided during the pancreatic clamps. On day two, 1.0 mL of precipitating reagent were added to each tube followed by vortexing and a 20 min incubation at 4°C. The samples were centrifuged to pellet the bound insulin. The radioactivity of the pellet was then counted by a gamma counter (Perkin Elmer 1470). The counts (*B*, for 'bound') for the samples and standards were expressed as a percentage of the mean counts of the total binding reference tubes (*Bo*):

% total binding =
$$\% \frac{B}{Bo}$$
 = (sample or standard) ÷ Bo × 100%

The % activity bound for each standard was plotted against the known concentrations (0.1 to 10 ng/mL) to construct the standard curve, and through interpolation, the plasma insulin concentrations of the experimental samples was determined.

A similar procedure was carried out for the determination of the plasma glucagon (in pg/mL) and leptin (in ng/mL) concentrations, except these were three-day protocols which involved an additional overnight incubation of the samples and standards at 4°C with the glucagon or leptin antibody *alone*, before the ¹²⁵I-glucagon or ¹²⁵I-leptin tracer was added. Additionally, the provided standards were 20, 50, 100, 200 and 400 pg/mL for the glucagon assay, and 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 50 ng/mL for the leptin assay.

Calculations and Statistical Analysis

The calculation used to find out the rate of glucose turnover (*Ra*; rate of appearance of glucose), as determined using $[3-{}^{3}H]$ -glucose was calculated using steady state formulas (185), was as follows:

$$Ra = \frac{I}{SA}$$
, $Ra = Rd$

where Ra = total rate of glucose appearance (endogenous + exogenous glucose) Rd = total rate of glucose disappearance I = constant rate of tracer infusion (μCi/min) SA = specific activity.

In the basal period, the total *Ra* corresponds to the rate of endogenous glucose production (*GP*), which is also equivalent to the rate of glucose disappearance (*Rd*) or utilization during steady state. Both the kidney and the liver are able to be sources of endogenous glucose. In this project, rodents were assessed during the post-absorptive state – during which GP from the liver accounts for nearly the entire value of *Ra*; however, during the fasted state, the kidney can account for 20-25% of the whole body glucose turnover (56). As such, the values for *hepatic* GP and *endogenous* GP can be considered to be the same for the studies of this thesis. During the pancreatic clamp period, there is an additional source of *Ra* in the form of an exogenous infusion of cold glucose (glucose infusion rate; *GIR*), and as such the value of the total *Ra* includes not only the *GP* but also *GIR* (*Rd* = *Ra* = *GP* + *GIR*). Thus, to obtain *GP* rates during the clamp, the value of *GIR* must be subtracted from the value of *Ra* that is determined using the above equation.

Statistical analysis was done by unpaired Student's t test. Data are presented as means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). The definitions of the time periods and the time points encompassed for the presented average values are specified in the methods of the specific studies.

STUDY I: CNS LACTATE SENSING IN METABOLIC DISEASE

(Adapted from Chari et al. Diabetes 56:836-40, 2008.)

Abstract

Hypothalamic lactate metabolism lowers hepatic GP and plasma glucose levels in normal rodents. However, it remains unknown whether activation of hypothalamic lactate metabolism lowers GP and plasma glucose levels in rodents with diabetes and obesity. We performed i.c.v. (3rd ventricle) administration of lactate (5 mM) to enhance central lactate metabolism in (A) the early-onset of STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetic rodents, (B) experimentally induced-hypoinsulinemic normal rodents (via somatostatin infusion), and (C) the early-onset of diet-induced insulin resistant rodents. The tracer-dilution methodology was used to assess the impact of i.c.v. lactate on the rate of GP in all three models. We first report that in the absence of insulin treatment, i.c.v. lactate administration lowered GP (by \sim 25%) and glucose levels (by >4 mM) in rodents with uncontrolled diabetes. Second, i.c.v. lactate administration normalized and prevented a rise in GP and glucose levels in normal rodents with experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia. Finally, i.c.v. lactate administration lowered the rate of GP (by >45%) in normal rodents that acquired insulin resistance after 3 days of high-fat feeding to an extent similar to that seen in regular chow-fed normal rodents. These data suggest that basal insulin signaling is not required for central lactate to lower GP, and the activation of hypothalamic lactate metabolism could consequently bypass insulin resistance and lower glucose levels in the early-onset of diabetes and obesity.

Methods

Early-onset Uncontrolled Diabetic Model

Uncontrolled diabetes was induced with a single intravenous (i.v.) injection of streptozotocin (STZ; Sigma, St. Louis, MO; 60 mg/kg), a potent diabetogenic agent that is cytolytic against pancreatic β -cells, dissolved in sterile saline at the end of the vascular surgery. The glycemic status in diabetic rats was monitored daily using a hand-held glucometer (Accu-Chek Compact Plus, Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC); only rats that were sufficiently hyperglycemic (blood glucose >15 mM) were included in the diabetic studies. After 54 hr to 60 hr of post-STZ injections, the *in vivo* i.c.v. infusion experiments were carried out and lasted a total of 3 hr in rats that were limited to 20 g of standard chow the previous night. We infused i.c.v. vehicle (0.9% w/v NaCl) or i.c.v. 5 mM L-lactate throughout the experiments using a microdialysis pump (CMA 400 syringe pump). A primed-continuous infusion of [3-³H]glucose (Perkin Elmer; 40 μ Ci bolus; 0.4 μ Ci/min thereafter) was initiated at 90 min and maintained through the study with the use of the Harvard PHD 2000 pump to assess glucose kinetics via the use of the tracer-dilution methodology. Plasma samples were collected in the final 0.5 hr (150 to 180 min) for determination of [3-³H]-glucose specific activity as well as hormone levels.

Experimentally-Induced Hypoinsulinemic Model

These *in vivo* infusion experiments lasted a total of 270 min, and were carried out in normal rats that were limited to 20 g of standard chow the previous night. A primed-continuous infusion of $[3-^{3}H]$ -glucose (Perkin Elmer; 40 µCi bolus; 0.4 µCi/min thereafter) was initiated at the start of the protocol along with somatostatin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO; 1 µg/kg·min). An infusion of i.c.v. saline or 5 mM lactate was initiated at 90 min and maintained till the end of the experiments. Plasma glucose level was monitored every 10 min throughout the

protocol. Plasma samples were collected throughout the protocol for the determination of [3-³H]-glucose specific activity as well as hormone levels.

Diet-Induced Model of Insulin-Resistance

Animals were fed a high fat (lard-oil enriched) diet (catalog no. 9389; Purina Mills Inc.), that was generated by supplementing the standard chow with 10% lard, for three days. Sprague Dawley rats on maintained on this diet for 3 days rapidly develop insulin resistance (124; 205); this permits an examination of CNS nutrient sensing during the acute-onset of this disease, paralleling the preceding evaluation of CNS lactate sensing during the early-onset of uncontrolled diabetes. The composition of the high fat diet is 45% carbohydrate, 22% protein, 33% fat (vs. 52, 31, and 17%, respectively, for the regular chow). A separate set of hyperinsulinemic (insulin dosage: 3 mU/kg.min)-euglycemic clamp experiment was performed in this high-fat fed model to evaluate whether high fat diet induce insulin resistance (see below). The in vivo infusion experiments lasted a total of 4.5 hr. A primedcontinuous infusion of $[3-^{3}H]$ -glucose (Perkin Elmer; 40 µCi bolus; 0.4 µCi/min thereafter) was initiated at 0 min. We infused i.c.v. vehicle (0.9% w/v NaCl), or i.c.v. 5 mM L-lactate from time 90 min and onwards till 270 min. A basal pancreatic insulin clamp was performed in the final 2hr (150 to 270 min) of the study: A continuous co-infusion of insulin (0.8 mU/kg·min) along with somatostatin (3 µg/kg·min) was administered, and a variable infusion of 25% glucose solution was administered as needed to clamp and maintain the plasma glucose concentration at levels similar to the basal state. Plasma samples were obtained at 10-min intervals for determination of [3-³H]-glucose-specific activity as well as plasma insulin, glucagon and leptin levels.

Hyperinsulinemic-Euglycemic Pancreatic Clamp

A separate set of hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp experiments was performed in a subset of rodents from both the regular chow-fed and the high-fat-fed model to evaluate whether the high-fat diet induces insulin resistance, as indicated by an impaired ability of hyperinsulinemia to suppress GP from the basal rate. These *in vivo* infusion experiments lasted a total of 3.5 h. A primed-continuous infusion of $[3-^{3}H]$ -glucose (Perkin Elmer; 40 µCi bolus; 0.4 µCi/min thereafter) was initiated at 0 min and maintained throughout the study. At 90 min, a hyperinsulinemic-eugclyemic clamp was performed for the final 2hr (90 to 210 min) of the study, where insulin was infused at 3 mU·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ along with somatostatin (3 µg/kg·min). With this dose, plasma insulin concentration was raised from 0.71±0.15 ng/mL (basal levels) to 1.981±0.28 ng/mL (during the final 30 min of the clamp). A variable rate of 25% glucose was infused during the clamp to maintain plasma glucose concentration at levels similar to basal. Plasma samples were obtained at 10-min intervals for determination of $[3-^{3}H]$ -glucose-specific activity as well as plasma insulin, glucagon and leptin levels.

Calculations

Statistical analysis was done by unpaired Student's t test. Data are presented as means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). The final 30 minutes of the experiments were averaged for the "i.c.v." time period and used for the calculation of plasma glucose, insulin and glucagon levels and GP rates presented in the Figures.

Results

First, we established an early-onset uncontrolled diabetic model with an i.v. injection of streptozotocin (STZ; 60 mg/kg); within 30 h of the STZ injection, the blood glucose level was elevated to at least 15 mM. After exposure to elevated glucose levels for 24-30 h, peripheral glucose metabolism was analyzed during a 3 h i.c.v. administration procedure (**Fig. 1b**). Via the use of tracer-dilution methodology, GP in i.c.v. saline-treated STZ rats was determined to be elevated to 22.7±1.3 mg/kg·min (**Fig. 2a**) – approximately twice the rate observed in normal rats 11.8±0.3 mg/kg·min) – resulting in a correspondingly elevated post-prandial plasma glucose level of 22.7±2.6 mM at the start of the i.c.v. infusion procedure. These elevations occurred in the presence of very low plasma insulin (**Fig. 2c**) but normal glucagon levels (**Fig. 2d**).

The effects of i.c.v. glucose and i.c.v. lactate at doses (2 and 5 mM, respectively, at a rate of 5 μL/h) that have been previously shown (103) to lower GP and plasma glucose level in normal rats were then evaluated in this uncontrolled diabetic model. While an acute elevation of central glucose failed to lower GP in diabetes (this impairment will be the focus of Study II), this was not the case with the i.c.v. administration of lactate. Interestingly, an acute elevation of central lactate resulted in a decrease in GP by ~6 mg/kg·min (**Fig. 2a**) which in turn led to a 4.3±0.8 mM drop (or 24.7±3.6 %) in plasma glucose (**Fig. 2b**). These data suggest that there is a loss of CNS glucose sensing in diabetes which lies upstream of lactate metabolism – this loss will be further examined later in Aim II of the project.

As STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes is chiefly characterized by not only marked hyperglycemia but also hypoinsulinemia, the GP-lowering effects of central lactate were further evaluated in an experimentally-induced model of selective hypoinsulinemia. To generate this alternative model, normal rats were administered somatostatin for 4.5 h (**Fig. 3a**) at a dosage of 1 μ g/kg·min, which resulted in a selective decrease (50%) in plasma insulin levels (**Fig. 3d**); plasma glucagon levels (**Fig. 3e**) were unchanged. This resulted in an elevation of GP to 15.8±1.4 mg/kg·min and plasma glucose levels to 10.8±0.3 mM by 180-200 minutes into the procedure. By the end of the infusion procedure (**Fig. 3a**), GP and plasma glucose levels remained elevated in the hypoinsulinemic rodents receiving i.c.v. saline administration (15.6±1.1kg·min and 10.9±0.5 mM, respectively). In contrast, the administration of i.c.v. lactate prevented the rise in GP (10.2±2.1 mg/kg.min) (**Fig. 3c**) and plasma glucose levels (7.3±0.6 mM) (**Fig. 3b**) throughout the infusion protocol.

Together with the findings of the uncontrolled diabetic model, the above data indicate that basal insulin action is not required for central lactate metabolism to lower glucose levels by means of negatively regulating GP. Thus, it is highly likely that the activation of central lactate metabolism could bypass insulin resistance and lower GP.

To directly test this hypothesis, the metabolic effects of i.c.v. lactate were tested in an early-onset high fat diet-induced insulin resistant model (**Fig. 4**). In this highly established model (124; 205) rodents fed on a lard oil-enriched diet for merely three days rapidly increase their caloric consumption (**Fig. 4a**), develop hepatic insulin resistance (as determined by hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps; **Fig. 4d**), and are hyperinsulinemic and hyperleptinemic (**Fig. 4b,c**) compared to rodents maintained on the standard chow. In this insulin resistant model, i.c.v. lactate administration lowered GP (from 13.2± 0.8 to 7.1± 0.4 kg·min) during the pancreatic basal insulin clamp procedure (**Fig. 5a**) – importantly, this metabolic effect of lactate i.c.v. was comparable to that in regular chow-fed rats (**Fig. 5a**). These data indicate that the acute elevation of central lactate and its subsequent metabolism was able to bypass insulin resistance in order to lower GP in the diet-induced insulin resistant model.

Taken together, we postulate that therapeutic strategy designed to activate hypothalamic lactate metabolism could bypass the diminished insulin effectiveness

observed in hypoinsulinemia and diet-induced insulin resistance and serve as one of the complimentary approaches to insulin injections to lower glucose levels in diabetes and obesity. The importance behind the results thus far of this Aim does not lie in the possibility of lactate administration as a therapeutic intervention; rather, these results pinpoint the central metabolic defect as lying upstream of lactate utilization, which facilitates the identification of molecular targets that can in turn be targeted in the design of novel therapeutics for use in diabetic and/or obese population.



Uncontrolled Diabetes
Hypoinsulinemia
Diet-Induced Insulin Resistance



Figure 1. Schematic representation of Study 1 and experimental protocol for STZ-diabetic Rodents. (a) A schematic representation of the working hypothesis and study summary. Activation of hypothalamic lactate metabolism lowers GP and plasma glucose in the early-onset of uncontrolled diabetes, experimentally-induced selective hypoinsulinemia, and diet-induced insulin resistance. (b) Experimental protocol of i.c.v. infusion in normal and STZ-diabetic rats, whereby the effects of i.c.v. lactate (or vehicle saline) on *in vivo* glucose fluxes were determined using the tracer (³H-glucose)-dilution methodology.



Figure 2. Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers Glucose Production and Plasma Glucose levels in Uncontrolled Diabetes. (a) STZ injection increased glucose production to ~22 mg/kg.min in i.c.v. saline (^{##}P<0.01 vs. normal n=12) treated diabetic rodents (n=6). Administration of i.c.v. lactate lowered glucose production (*P<0.05 vs. i.c.v. saline-STZ) in uncontrolled diabetic rodents (n=6). (b) This suppression in glucose production led to a significant drop (~25%; *P<0.05) in plasma glucose levels by the end of the 3h i.c.v. lactate-infusion period vs. saline vehicle-infused diabetic rodents. (c) STZ injection lowered plasma insulin levels in i.c.v. saline- or lactate-treated STZ rats (^{###}P<0.001 vs. normal). (d) Glucagon level was comparable in all groups.



Figure 3. Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers Glucose Production and Plasma Glucose in experimentally-induced Hypoinsulinemia. (a) Experimental protocol of i.c.v. infusion in normal or hypoinsulinemic rats. Administration of i.v. somatostatin at the indicated dose with i.c.v. saline (n=6) increased (b) plasma glucose levels ($^{\#P}$ <0.01 vs. i.c.v. saline-normal) and (c) GP ($^{\#P}$ <0.05 vs. i.c.v. saline-normal), and lowered (d) insulin levels ($^{\#P}$ <0.05 vs. i.c.v. saline-normal rats). (e) Administration of i.v. somatostatin with i.c.v. lactate (n=6) prevented the rise in (b) plasma glucose levels (**P <0.001 vs. i.c.v. saline-hypoinsulinemic rats) and (c) glucose production (*P <0.05 vs. i.c.v. saline-hypoinsulinemic rats) in the presence of low (d) insulin level ($^{\#P}$ <0.05 vs. i.c.v. saline-normal rats). (e) Glucagon level was comparable in all groups.



Figure 4. Metabolic characteristics of the high-fat diet-induced Insulin Resistant Rodents. (a) Over the course of the 3-day high-fat diet, Normal male SD rats rapidly develop a marked hypercaloric intake (n=5) vs. those on the regular chow diet (n=5), which ate ~85 kcal/day (***P*<0.01 vs. regular diet). By the end of the high-fat diet, the rodents are (**b**) hyperinsulinemic as well as (**c**) hyperleptinemic (***P*<0.01 vs. regular chow-fed rats). (**d**) A separate set of hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp experiments were conducted (3 mU·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ insulin dosage) to evaluate whether this high-fat diet induced insulin resistance. By the final 30 min of the clamp, the ability of acute exogenous hyperinsulinemia to suppress hepatic glucose production was severely blunted in rodents on the high-fat diet (75±5% vs 23±3 %; ***P*<0.01 vs. regular chow-fed rats).



Figure 5. Activation of Central Lactate metabolism lowers Glucose Production in the high fat dietinduced Insulin Resistant Model. (a) The effects of central lactate (or vehicle control saline) on glucose production was evaluated using the tracer-dilution methodology in conjunction with the pancreatic (basal insulin) euglycemic clamp. (b) Administration of i.c.v. lactate (n=5) lowered glucose production in the high fat fed rats (****P*<0.001 vs. i.c.v. saline-high fat diet, n=5) to the same extent as in the regular chow-fed rats (****P*<0.001 vs. i.c.v. saline-regular diet, n=6 each). (c) Insulin levels were comparable in all groups during the clamp. Glucagon levels (d) were comparable in all groups during the clamp. Somatostatin, SRIF.

STUDY II: GLUCOTOXICITY AND CNS GLUCOSE SENSING

Abstract

Increases in hypothalamic glucose and its subsequent metabolism to lactate lower plasma glucose levels by inhibiting GP in normal rodents. We here begin to test the hypothesis that hypothalamic glucotoxicity impairs glucose sensing to lower GP in diabetes. First, peripheral glucose metabolism was analyzed in STZ-diabetic rodents with the use of a pancreatic (basal insulin) euglycemic clamp coupled to the tracer-dilution methodology, during a concurrent i.c.v. glucose (2 mM) infusion. The infusion of i.c.v. glucose lowered GP in normal rodents, confirming previous finding. However, this acute administration of central glucose, unlike lactate (Study 1), failed to lower GP in STZ-uncontrolled diabetes. To begin assessing whether glucotoxicity per se impairs hypothalamic glucose sensing, two models with selective hyperglycemia were tested. Hypothalamic glucose sensing was assessed in normal rats which had received (A) a 24 h exposure to increased circulating blood glucose levels (~20 mM) by means of direct i.v. glucose (37.5%) infusion or (B) a 24 h exposure to increased hypothalamic glucose levels via direct i.h. glucose (4 mM) administration or (C) vehicle control infusions. We found that i.h. glucose (2 mM) lowered GP in the rodents receiving 24 h i.h./i.v. saline-infusions but not the glucose-infusions, suggesting that whole-body as well as hypothalamic glucotoxicity are sufficient to inhibit CNS glucose sensing mechanisms. To determine whether glucotoxicity per se is responsible for the impaired hypothalamic glucose sensing in diabetes, STZ-diabetic rodents were treated with i.v. phlorizin, an inhibitor of renal glucose reabsorption, for 24 hours to normalize plasma glucose levels and prevent the hyperglycemic exposure. In these STZ+phlorizin rodents, lowering glucose levels per se in diabetes rescued the effect of i.h. glucose, suppressing GP (by ~40%). Together, these data suggest glucotoxicity as a means by which central/hypothalamic glucose effectiveness is disrupted to lower GP in uncontrolled diabetes.

Methods

Pancreatic (Basal Insulin) Euglycemic Clamps

We infused i.c.v./i.h. (as indicated) vehicle (0.9% w/v NaCl) or i.c.v/i.h. (as indicated) 2 mM glucose throughout the experiments. A primed-continuous infusion of $[3-^{3}H]$ glucose (Perkin Elmer; 40 µCi bolus; 0.4 µCi/min thereafter) was initiated at 0 min and maintained through the study to assess glucose kinetics via the use of the tracer-dilution methodology. Ninety minutes after the basal period, a basal pancreatic insulin clamp was performed in the final 2hr (90 – 210 min) of the study: A continuous co-infusion of insulin (0.8 mU/kg·min) along with somatostatin (3 µg/kg·min) was administered, and a variable infusion of 25% glucose solution was administered as needed to clamp and maintain the plasma glucose concentration at levels similar to the basal state. Plasma samples were collected every 10 minutes for determination of [³H]glucose specific activity as well as hormone levels (see **Table 1** and **Table 2** for insulin and glucagon levels, respectively, during the procedure across all Study 2 groups).

Early-onset Uncontrolled Diabetic Model

Uncontrolled diabetes was induced with a single intravenous (i.v.) injection of streptozotocin (STZ; Sigma, St. Louis, MO; 60 mg/kg), a potent diabetogenic agent that is cytolytic against pancreatic β -cells, dissolved in sterile saline at the end of the vascular surgery. The glycemic status in diabetic rats was monitored daily using a hand-held glucometer (Accu-Chek Compact Plus, Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC); only rats that were sufficiently hyperglycemic (blood glucose >15 mM) were included in the diabetic studies. After 54 hr to 60 hr of post-STZ injections, the *in vivo* i.c.v. infusion experiments were carried out and lasted a total of 3.5 hr in rats that were limited to 20 g of standard chow the previous night (see above for clamp description).

Whole-Body Glucotoxic Model

To induce whole-body hyperglycemia and the resultant glucotoxicity, normal SD rats received a 24 hr infusion of i.v. glucose. A solution of 37.5% glucose was made and infused from a 60 cc syringe into the externalized i.v. catheter at 2 ml/hr for a total of 24 hr using a Harvard PHD 2000 syringe pump. To protect the exteriorized polyethylene catheter from being chewed by the rodent during the course of the infusion, the catheter was fed through a 12" stainless steel spring-coil tether (RT-12; Braintree Scientific, Braintree, MA) and was secured to the rodent in a saddle-style Velcro rodent jacket (RJ-M, Braintree Scientific). This infusion apparatus was out of reach to the rodent and still permitted the rodents to be mobile, unrestrained and have free access to food and water. As a control, normal rodents received a 24 hr i.v. infusion of vehicle saline (0.9% w/v NaCl). The next morning, after the 24 hr infusion period, a 1.0 mL blood sample was obtained from the intracarotid catheter for plasma glucose and hormone analyses – here referred to as the "pre-basal" time point. The i.v. glucose infusion was then terminated at this point, and the plasma glucose levels were allowed to normalize (this took approximately 1.5 hr) prior to the subsequent in vivo analyses via the pancreatic euglycemic clamp (see above), where the effects of i.h. glucose (2 mM) on glucose fluxes were assessed.

Hypothalamic Glucotoxic Model

To induce selective, hypothalamic hyperglycemia and the resultant glucotoxicity, normal SD rats received a 24 hr infusion of i.h. glucose. A solution of 4 mM glucose was made and infused from a 50 uL Hamilton glass syringe into the externalized bilateral i.h. catheter at 0.33 μ l/hr for a total of 24 hr using a microdialysis pump. The overnight infusion apparatus was setup as described above for the whole-body glucotoxic, i.v. glucose-infused model. As a control, normal rodents received a 24 hr i.h. infusion of vehicle saline (0.9% w/v NaCl). The i.h. glucose infusion was terminated the next day after 24 hr, and, to keep the experimental

time course consistent with the whole-body glucotoxicity studies, the pancreatic euglycemic clamp was commenced 1.5 hr after this termination. During the pancreatic euglycemic clamp, the effects of i.h. glucose – at 2 mM – were evaluated.

Phlorizin-Treated Uncontrolled Diabetic Model

Uncontrolled diabetes was induced with a single intravenous (i.v.) injection of streptozotocin (STZ; Sigma, St. Louis, MO; 60 mg/kg), dissolved in sterile saline, at the end of the vascular surgery. The glycemic status in diabetic rats was monitored daily using a handheld glucometer (Accu-Chek Compact Plus, Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC); only rats that were sufficiently hyperglycemic (blood glucose >15 mM) were included in the diabetic studies. After ~24 hr of hyperglycemia, the STZ-diabetic rodents of this group were administered a continuous infusion of i.v. phlorizin.

Phlorizin is a naturally occurring product that is found in a number of fruit trees (55). The primarily pharmacological action of phlorizin is to produce renal glucosuria and block intestinal glucose absorption via the inhibition of the sodium/glucose cotransporters in the proximal renal tubule and the mucosa of the small intestine, respectively (55). This compound has previously been used experimentally to increase glucose clearance and lower plasma glucose levels.

To make the phlorizin solution, phlorizin dihydrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was gradually dissolved in hot, near-boiling 20% propylene glycol (PG; Sigma) at a concentration of 5 mg/mL. The solution was freshly made for each treatment, and was allowed to cool to room temperature before being administered to the rodent. Phlorizin was given at a rate of 2.5 μ l/min (12.5 μ g/min) i.v. to continuously normalize glucose levels overnight and throughout the pancreatic clamp procedure outlined earlier, where the effects of 2 mM glucose were evaluated.

Calculations

Statistical analysis was done by unpaired Student's *t* test. Data are presented as means \pm SEM (standard error of the mean). The presented "basal" values for glucose concentration and rates of GP and utilization are averages for the 60 through 90 minutes time points, while those for the "clamp" period are the averages for the final 30 minutes (180 – 210 min) of the procedure.

Results

In the presence of marked hypoinsulinemia (**Table 1**) and unchanged glucagon levels (**Table 2**) when compared to normal rodents, the basal GP was elevated to ~23 mg/kg·min in STZ-diabetic rodents (**Fig. 2a**). Despite the replacement of basal insulin levels during the clamp (**Fig. 1b**), an acute increase in central glucose was unable to suppress the rate of GP in diabetic rodents, as GP (18.2±3.2 mg/kg·min) remained elevated to a similar extent as the i.c.v. saline-infused STZ-diabetic rodents (18.8±2.4 mg/kg·min) during the clamp (**Fig. 2a**). When comparing the basal and clamp GP rates, the infusion of i.c.v. glucose was able to suppress GP by 53.6±10.5 % in normal rodents (**Fig. 2a**), thus requiring an exogenous glucose infusion rate (GIR) of 7.1±1.8 mg/kg·min during the clamp to maintain euglycemia (**Fig. 2b**). In line with previous studies (103), this central nutrient accumulation did not affect the rate of glucose disappearance (Rd) (**Fig. 2c**), thus confirming that this homeostatic effect is specific to the regulation of GP and not glucose utilization or clearance.

Thus, it is evident that the central glucose sensing mechanisms to lower GP are defective in uncontrolled diabetes. The molecular defect likely lies upstream of lactate uptake and metabolism, as data from the previous aim suggest that the central lactate sensing mechanism is preserved in diabetes. We then began to test the hypothesis that hypothalamic glucotoxicity (i.e. hyperglycemia *per se*) is responsible for this impairment of central glucose sensing to lower GP in diabetes

As outlined earlier, this concept of glucotoxicity in relation to hypothalamic nutrient (glucose) sensing was to be evaluated in multiple models. Acute STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes is chiefly characterized by hyperglycemia and hypoinsulinemia, so to assess the effects of glucotoxicity on central glucose sensing it is necessary to evaluate models of selective hyperglycemia without any potential confounding effects of insulin deficiency on central glucose sensing – specifically hypothalamic glucose sensing from here on in.

First, we infused 37.5% glucose intravenously into normal rats at a dose to selectively raise plasma glucose levels. This continuous glucose infusion was then maintained for 24 hours (Fig. 3a, model 1) to mimic the hyperglycemic insult endured by the uncontrolled diabetic rodents. Immediately after the end of the 24 h period, the i.v. glucose-infused rodents had elevated glycemia similar to that of STZ-diabetic rodents (20.2±1.1 vs. 22.7±2.6 mM, Fig. 3c) and this glucose challenge had stimulated marked hyperinsulinemia (8.4±0.4 vs. 0.63±0.12 ng/mL in normal rodents). There were no significant differences in glucagon levels (Table 2). Prior to the pancreatic clamp procedure, the glucose infusion was stopped and the plasma glucose levels were allowed to normalize, which occurred within 1-1.5 hours. Despite the normal plasma glucose levels, these rodents still had residual hyperinsulinemia at the start of the 210-min pancreatic clamp protocol (Fig. 3b). These 24 h i.v. glucose-infused normal rodents had an elevated basal GP ~18 mg/kg·min (Fig. 4a). Despite the infusion of i.h. glucose to increase hypothalamic glucose levels, these normoglycemic rodents did not undergo the suppression in GP (to 4.9±1.0 mg/kg·min) seen in their 24-hour vehicle-infused counterparts (Fig. 4a); rather, their clamp GP remained elevated at 14.6±1.9 mg/kg·min, similar to the 24-hour i.v. glucose-infused group receiving i.h. saline during the procedure (14.8±1.2 mg/kg·min). Thus, the whole-body glucotoxicity induced by infusing i.v. glucose prior to the clamp procedure was able to inhibit the ability of an acute hypothalamic glucose elevation to lower GP in normal rodents.

Although the aim of the i.v. glucose infusion was to induce whole-body hyperglycemia *per se*, these rodents were quite clearly hyperinsulinemic and likely insulin resistant as well. As such, it was important to evaluate hypothalamic glucose sensing in a true alternative model of glucotoxicity. In order to confine the effects of hyperglycemia even further, another group of rodents followed a similar experimental timeline, but instead received an intrahypothalamic (i.h.) as opposed to an intravenous infusion of glucose for 24 hours (at 4 mM) prior to undergoing the clamp protocol (**Fig. 3a**, model 2) to induce hypothalamic glucotoxicity. This was dose was selected on the basis of a dose-

response curve which showed that increasing plasma glucose levels to ~22 mM can achieve the same increase in hypothalamic glucose as a 4 mM central glucose infusate (102). Although this group did not display elevated plasma glucose levels like the i.v. glucoseinfused rodents (**Fig. 3c**), the i.h. glucose infusion was still terminated 1.5 hours prior to the start of the pancreatic clamp protocol to keep the experimental timeline consistent (**Fig. 3b**). This hypothalamic glucose challenge did not significantly alter plasma insulin or glucagon levels versus normal rodents (**Table 2**). Although the hypothalamic glucotoxic rodents had similar a basal GP rate (**Fig. 4a**) as the normal rodents ("normal" group pools 24 h i.v. and i.h. saline-infused rodents, along with non-infused rodents), the clamp GP of hypothalamic glucotoxic rodents was at 8.9±1.0 mg/kg·min, thereby failing to display the strong suppression (57±10.5 %) seen in the normal group (**Fig. 4a**). Once again, there were no significant changes in glucose utilization/clearance rates between acute i.h. saline and i.h. glucose-infused rodents across all of the groups (**Fig. 4b**).

Although the whole-body and hypothalamic glucotoxicity models displayed normal plasma glucose levels, in both of those models hypothalamic glucose sensing to regulate GP was disrupted. Particularly with the use of the hypothalamic hyperglycemic model, where the 24 h glucose infusion induced selective glucotoxicity, we have demonstrated that hyperglycemia *per se* is sufficient to impair the acute effects of hypothalamic glucose-sensing to lower GP (**Fig. 3a**). To fully implicate glucotoxicity as a causative agent in this impairment, we investigated if the normalization of glycemia in uncontrolled diabetes could rescue hypothalamic glucose sensing to lower GP (**Fig. 5a**).

In order to do this, we looked into the use of phlorizin, an inhibitor of the renal sodium/glucose cotransporter that has previously been used experimentally to increase glucose clearance. However, our use of subcutaneous bolus treatments as per this study resulted in short-term (<3 h) normalization followed by a rebound of hyperglycemia (unpublished observations). So, a continuous infusion protocol was designed to establish

and maintain normoglycemia in diabetic rodents for 24 hours (**Fig. 6a,c**) when compared to STZ-diabetic rodents receiving the vehicle infusion of 20% propylene glycol (PG). To achieve this, rodents receiving STZ after the vascular catheterization were placed on the i.v. phlorizin treatment upon first observation of hyperglycemia (> 18 mM), and maintained normoglycemia up to and through the subsequent pancreatic clamp protocol one day later (**Fig. 5b**).

When compared to untreated STZ-diabetic rodents (pooling of STZ-diabetic rodents receiving the vehicle (VEH) infusion as well as non-infused rats), phlorizin-treated STZdiabetic (STZ+Phlorizin) rodents were similarly hypoinsulinemic (Fig. 6b), but were normoglycemic (Fig. 6c) at the start of the 210 minute pancreatic clamp protocol. Untreated STZ-diabetic rodents receiving i.h. saline had a basal GP of 23.0±1.2 mg/kg·min, and during basal insulin replacement had a clamp GP of 19.0±2.2 mg/kg·min (Fig. 7a), representing a baseline suppression of 23.1±7.4 % (Fig. 7b). A similar story is seen with untreated STZdiabetic rodents receiving i.h. glucose, as there was no additional suppression of the GP in a clamp setting like that seen in normal rodents (Fig. 7a). STZ + Phlorizin rats receiving an i.h. saline infusion had a basal GP of 13.3±0.9 mg/kg·min, which was suppressed by 24.4±4.4 % (Fig. 7b) to 9.8 mg/kg·min (Fig. 7a) during the basal insulin clamp. Unlike the case with untreated STZ-diabetic rodents, the infusion of i.h. glucose suppressed GP from 10.6±1.1 to 6.1 ± 0.9 mg/kg·min (Fig. 7a) during the clamp, corresponding to a 48.3± 6.7 % decrease (Fig. 7b). The rates of glucose disappearance (Fig. 7c) during the clamp remain unchanged between i.h. saline and glucose treatments across all groups. Thus, the lowering of plasma glucose levels per se in diabetes plays a critical part in the restoration of central and/or hypothalamic glucose sensing to regulate GP (Fig. 6a).

Collectively, these multiple approaches of assessing the impairment and rescuing of hypothalamic glucose sensing in models of uncontrolled diabetes (with and without glycemic control) and whole-body or hypothalamic glucotoxicity demonstrate that the insult

of hyperglycemia *per se* is sufficient to impair the inhibitory effects of hypothalamic glucose on GP. The preservation of central lactate's, but loss of central glucose's, ability to regulate GP in diabetes is indicative of an impairment that lies upstream of lactate uptake and metabolism. Additional studies, which remain outside the overall scope of this thesis, are absolutely necessary to determine the glucotoxicity-induced cellular and/or molecular defect(s) that underlies the loss in hypothalamic glucose sensing to lower GP.

	Start	Basal	Clamp
Normal (n = 20)	0.67 ± 0.14	0.73 ± 0.07	0.66 ± 0.07
STZ-Diabetic (n = 16)	$0.18 \pm 0.04^{***}$	$0.13 \pm 0.05^{***}$	0.73 ± 0.06
24 hr i.v. glucose (n = 14)	$2.41 \pm 0.05^{\#}$	$1.42 \pm 0.22^{\#}$	0.70 ± 0.06
24 hr i.h. glucose (n = 11)	0.64 ± 0.07	0.74 ± 0.09	0.68 ± 0.10
STZ + Phlorizin (n = 15)	$0.19 \pm 0.05^{***}$	$0.19 \pm 0.05^{***}$	0.73 ± 0.09

Table 1 – Plasma levels of Insulin (ng/mL) during Study 2 Pancreatic Clamps

Data are means ± SEM.

Start: t=0 min (of clamp). Basal: average of t=60-90 min. Clamp: average of t=180-210 min. 'Normal' pools 1) Normal (n=12), 2) 24h i.v. (n=4) and 3) 24 i.h. (n=4) saline-infused rodents. 'STZ-Diabetic' pools 1) STZ-Diabetic (n=11) and 2) STZ+PG (n=5).

^{***}P < 0.001 vs. Normal, <u>[#]P < 0.05 vs. Normal (Student's *t* test)</u>.
	Start	Basal	Clamp
Normal (n = 20)	69.58 ± 7.70	66.60 ± 9.69	37.11 ± 5.95
STZ-Diabetic (n = 16)	68.19 ± 9.74	61.89 ± 5.33	42.13 ± 1.68
24 hr i.v. glucose (n = 14)	53.37 ± 6.30	56.35 ± 2.23	39.75 ± 1.53
24 hr i.h. glucose (n = 11)	60.09 ± 4.46	56.32 ± 2.53	41.75 ± 2.46
STZ + Phlorizin (n = 15)	68.41 ± 10.46	66.59 ± 9.69	36.73 ± 7.09

Table 2 – Plasma levels of Glucagon (pg/mL) during Study 2 Pancreatic Clamps

Data are means ± SEM.

Start: t=0 min (of clamp). Basal: average of t=60-90 min. Clamp: average of t=180-210 min.

'Normal' pools 1) Normal (n=12), 2) 24h i.v. (n=4) and 3) 24 i.h. (n=4) saline-infused rodents.

'STZ-Diabetic' pools 1) STZ-Diabetic (n=11) and 2) STZ+PG (n=5).

Start: t=0 min. Basal: average of t=60-90 min. Clamp: average of t=180-210 min.





Figure 1. Schematic representation of working Hypothesis and Experimental Protocol. Schematic representation of the working hypothesis (a) for the glucotoxicity model experiments. Central glucose administration is not expected to lower glucose production in rodents with early-onset STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes. (b) Experimental time course. The ability of central glucose to regulate whole-body glucose fluxes were evaluated in normal and STZ-Diabetic rats with the use of the pancreatic (basal insulin) clamp (shown on day 9).



Figure 2. Acute elevation in Central Glucose is Unable to lower Glucose Production in Uncontrolled Diabetes. (a) STZ-Diabetic rats had a significantly elevated basal rate of glucose production (GP) - nearly double. In confirmation with previous studies, the infusion of i.c.v. glucose (2 mM) was able to reduce hepatic GP in normal rodents (n=6) during the clamp (**P<0.01 vs. i.c.v. saline (n=6)). However, no such suppression was observed in i.c.v. glucose-treated STZ-Diabetic rodents (n=5); values were similar to i.c.v. saline-treated STZ-Diabetic rodents (n=6). (b) The required glucose infusion rate (GIR) to maintain euglycemia during the clamp (**P<0.01 i.c.v. glucose-normal vs. i.c.v. saline-normal). The rate of glucose clearance (Rd) was not significantly different across the treatment groups for either normal or STZ-Diabetic rodents.





Figure 3. Working Hypothesis, Experimental Protocol and Glycemic Status for Glucotoxicity Models. (a) Schematic representation of the working hypothesis for the glucotoxicity model experiments. Hypothalamic glucose administration is not expected to lower glucose production in either the 1) whole-body or 2) hypothalamic glucotoxic models. (b) Experimental time course. Hypothalamic (i.h.) glucose-sensing was evaluated in normal, 24h i.v. (1) and i.h. glucose-infused (2) rodents with the use of the pancreatic (basal insulin) clamp. (c) Plasma glucose levels prior to clamp studies after 24h-infusion periods (normal i.e. saline-infused, n=4; i.v. glucose, n=11; i.h. glucose, n= 14). Values from earlier experiments done with STZ-Diabetic rodents are plotted for reference and comparison. **P<0.01 vs. normal rodents.



Figure 4. Glucose Fluxes in Hyperglycemic Models during i.h. Infusions. (a) An acute infusion of glucose directly into the hypothalamus (i.h.) was able to significantly lower glucose production in normal rodents (**P<0.01 vs. i.h. saline-normal; n=11 including n=4 24h saline-infused rodents). Pancreatic clamp analyses of normoglycemic rodents which received a 24h i.v glucose infusion revealed a defect in hypothalamic glucose sensing to lower glucose production, as the values for the i.h. glucose-treated group paralleled those of the i.h. vehicle saline-treated counterparts. A similar story is seen in the hypothalamic glucotoxic, 24h i.h. glucose-infused rodents. (b) The rate of whole body glucose disposal during the clamp (final 30 min) was consistent and insignificantly different across each of the groups, regardless of whether i.h. saline or glucose was received during the pancreatic clamp.



a



Figure 5. Schematic Representation of working Hypothesis and Gain-of-Function Experimental Protocol in Assessing Hypothalamic Glucose Sensing. (a) Schematic representation of the working hypothesis for the gain-of-function experiments. Hypothalamic glucose administration is anticipated to lower glucose production in STZ-Diabetic rodents which have had their plasma glucose levels selectively normalized. (b) Experimental time course. Hypothalamic (i.h.) glucose-sensing was evaluated with the use of the displayed pancreatic clamp in STZ-Diabetic rodents receiving a continuous i.v. phlorizin (or 20% propylene glycol, as vehicle control) administration that was initiated 24h prior to the clamp.



Figure 6. Effect of Continuous Phlorizin Administration on STZ-Diabetic Rodents. (a) The continuous intravenous (i.v.) infusion of phlorizin rapidly normalized and maintained plasma glucose levels for the duration of the infusion (**P<0.01, ***P<0.001 vs. 20% propylene glycol vehicle infusion). (b) STZ-diabetic rodents remained markedly hypoinsulinemic regardless of whether phlorizin was administered (***P<0.001 vs. Normal, n=12). (c) Starting plasma glucose levels prior to pancreatic clamp analyses where hypothalamic glucose sensing was evaluated. The continuous infusion of phlorizin successfully normalized plasma glucose levels in STZ-diabetic rodents (n=15), while untreated STZ-diabetic (n=15) remained markedly hyperglycemic (**P<0.01 vs. Normal). 'STZ-Diabetic' pools non-infused diabetic rodents (n=11) and PG-infused diabetic rodents (n=4).



Figure 7. Insulin-Independent Normalization of Glycemia Rescues CNS Glucose Sensing in Diabetes. (a) Basal and clamp glucose production rates resulting from i.h. saline or glucose treatment during the pancreatic clamp analyses of normal, untreated STZ-diabetic and STZ+Phlorizin rodents. Acute i.h. glucose infusion in STZ+Phlorizin significantly lowered the rate of glucose production (GP) during the final 30 minutes of the clamp (**P>0.01 vs. i.h. saline-infused STZ+Phlorizin rodents). (b) The rate of glucose production suppression from the basal to clamp time periods. The ability of i.h. glucose to suppress GP is restored in phlorizin-treated STZ-Diabetic rodents (**P>0.01 vs. i.h. saline-infused STZ+Phlorizin rodents). (c) Across this study's groups, the rate of whole-body glucose disposal (Rd) remained unchanged regardless of the i.h. treatment.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The primary function of the hypothalamus is to establish homeostasis, or the maintenance of key physiological parameters including thirst, hunger, body temperature and blood pressure. In recent history, this structure within the brain has been thoroughly demonstrated to be a vital mediator of the CNS' ability to directly sense nutrients (103; 136; 145) and hormones (40; 67; 80; 96; 97; 137) in the control of glucose homeostasis. Of particular relevance to the studies of this project, an acute increase in either hypothalamic glucose or lactate is able to trigger a regulatory neurocircuitry to inhibit hepatic glucose production in normal, healthy rodents (103). To date, the effectiveness of this carbohydrate-initiated glucoregulatory signal has yet to be adequately evaluated in experimental models of diabetes and/or obesity. In the project presented here, we have determined that central lactate retains its ability to trigger a GP-lowering effect in earlyonset uncontrolled diabetes, but that glucose does not. Further, lactate is able to lower hepatic GP in settings of diminished insulin action: experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia and diet-induced insulin resistance. Finally, lowering plasma glucose levels per se rescued the GP-lowering effect of hypothalamic glucose in diabetic rodents, demonstrating glucotoxicity as a primary physiological deterrant underlying the impaired CNS glucose sensing in diabetes.

The model of diabetes utilized in these studies was streptozotocin (STZ)-induced uncontrolled diabetes, which is a widely used experimental animal model. STZ, which is 2-deoxy-2-(3-(methyl-3-nitrosoureido)-D-glucopyranose) and a derivative of glucosamine, is synthesized by the bacteria *Streptomycetes achromogenes* (187), and is a potent β -cell

cytotoxic agent that is also used in combating malignant pancreatic tumors in humans (167). After entering via the transporter GLUT2, this compound has a multi-faceted approach in causing the necrosis of the pancreatic cells, which overall results from DNA damage and dramatic ATP depletion. First, STZ is a nitrosurea and thus a potent agent that directly induces DNA damage via alkylation (187). Secondly, STZ metabolism leads to the formation of nitrous oxide (NO), which targets aconitase, a Krebs cycle enzyme (193). The subsequent limitation of ATP phosphorylation and production leads to an increase in its degradation products, including hypoxanthine which is a substrate for the superoxide anion-producing xanthine oxidase, the activity of which is inherently high in the β -cell (130). The production of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals from superoxide generation then induce DNA damage (187). Thirdly, the damage to DNA resulting from alkylation and oxidant action leads to the activation of poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation catalyzed by poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) in a nicotinamide adenine nucleotide (NAD+)-dependent manner: when DNA damage is less, PARP activity promotes DNA repair, but when the damage is massive, like that induced by substantial alkylation and oxidants, there is a rapid depletion of ATP (which is used to generate NAD+), which leads to a cellular energy crisis that ultimately results in β cell death via necrosis (72). An extrapancreatic effect that is of particular relevance to this thesis is the ability of STZ to significantly reduce the activities of glycolytic enzymes, including HK, PFK, and PK, in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus (151).

A dose-response study which evaluated the metabolic effects of i.v. STZ bolus administrations demonstrated the highly specific nature of STZ on β -cells, and that the diabetogenic response could be fine-tuned using a relatively broad dosage range (87). When 65 mg/kg of STZ was administered intravenously to rodents, the diabetic state was established within 24 h: polyuria, glycosuria, and hyperglycemia (~18.3 mM) were evident, and there was a dramatic drop in pancreatic insulin content – only 5% of the intial amount remained. The metabolic readouts of the 55 mg/kg dose were very similar, and the 45

mg/kg dose led to less severe hyperglycemia (~15.6 mM) and pancreatic insulin loss (~80% reduction). Consistent with this, in our studies we observed that within 24 h, the male SD rats that were injected with 60 mg/kg had pronounced hyperglycemia $(17.0\pm1.9 \text{ mM})$, which elevated further to ~21.6 mM after 48 h, when plasma insulin levels were reduced by >80%. Contributing to the hyperglycemia was an elevated rate of GP that was nearly double that of normal, non-diabetic rodents. Although chronic hyperglucagonemia is a contributor to hyperglycemia in diabetes (39), glucagon levels were unchanged in our STZ-diabetic vs. normal rodents. These results are in line with a previous study showing that the basal GP rate, in the post-absorptive state, was increased by 150% and that glucagon levels were similar to normal rodents up to 30 h post-STZ injection (65 mg/kg). However, after several days of STZ-diabetes, the plasma levels of glucagon as well as FFAs more than doubles (26). Although we did not, in our studies, measure the expression of glucoregulatory enzymes, this study by Burcelin et al. revealed that there was a dramatic increase in insulin-sensitive hepatic PEPCK and G6Pase activities after 12h of STZ-diabetes, along with marked depletion of hepatic glycogen stores (26). We anticipate that a similar enzymatic up-regulation occurred in our model, which is also early-onset but had been exposed to an additional day of hyperglycemia. This along with our results demonstrated that marked hypoinsulinemia is the major contributor of excessive GP in the early-onset of uncontrolled diabetes.

Study I

In 2005, the Luciano Rossetti's group revealed that an acute increase in central or hypothalamic lactate (at 5 mM) was able to lower hepatic glucose production by approximately 45%; this was done in normal rodents and in the setting of basal insulin levels (103). Here, despite the severe hypoinsulinemia and hyperglycemia, the acute i.c.v. administration of the same dose of lactate was still able to significantly lower GP in rodents with uncontrolled diabetes by more than 25% versus i.c.v saline-infused vehicle controls.

This enhancement of insulin sensitivity produced a drop in plasma glucose levels of more than 4 mM. To date, only one other group has evaluated the ability of hypothalamicallytriggered mechanisms to regulate glucose homeostasis in uncontrolled diabetes. Insulin administered i.c.v. lowers GP (137) and hepatic insulin resistance develops in rodents with a reduction in hypothalamic insulin receptors (135). To further flesh out the importance of hypothalamic insulin action, Michael Schwartz' group tested the possibility that the successful treatment of uncontrolled diabetes requires intact central insulin-signaling mechanisms. Indeed, when a PI₃K-inhibitor (LY) was infused i.c.v. continuously, the bloodglucose lowering effect of daily subcutaneous insulin treatments was blunted by about onethird in rodents that had STZ-uncontrolled diabetes for two weeks (67). The i.c.v. infusion of LY alone in the absence of insulin injections had no worsening effect on blood glucose levels in these diabetic rodents whose insulin levels were 85% that of normal rodents (67), demonstrating that hypothalamic signaling cannot be triggered by circulating insulin at these diminished levels. This suggests that the i.c.v. lactate-induced lowering of glucose levels and GP observed in our studies was indeed the result of lactate per se, once again implying that central lactate signaling is functional in the absence of basal insulin levels.

To better assess this hypothesis, we evaluated the effects of i.c.v lactate in a rodent model of experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia, that was previously used in dogs (33). In the dog study, Cherrington *et al.* infused somatostatin alone at 0.8 μ g/kg/min for 4.5 h, which was able to suppress both plasma insulin and glucagon levels by >60% (33). As a result, the plasma glucose level and rate of GP in these conscious dogs had increased by ~130 and 150%, respectively, from the starting values (33). In our studies, Sprague-Dawley rats infused with somatostatin alone did indeed have a drop in plasma insulin levels by a similar amount, yet the glucagon levels remained unchanged from those seen in normal rodents, facilitating the evaluation of selective hypoinsulinemia on central lactate sensing. In this setting of insulin lack, the plasma glucose levels gradually rose during the 4.5 h protocol to ~11 mM (increase of 160%), with a corresponding increase in GP by 150% (to 16 mg/kg/min) in rodents receiving a concurrent i.c.v. saline infusion. However, in rodents receiving a concurrent i.c.v. lactate infusion during the i.v. somatostatin infusion, the rise in plasma glucose level and GP was prevented. This along with the evaluation of central lactate in uncontrolled diabetes confirms that basal insulin signaling is not required for the effectiveness of i.c.v. lactate to trigger its' regulatory effect on hepatic glucose production.

The retained effectiveness of central lactate sensing during insulinopenia suggests that lactate could bypass insulin resistance to regulate glucose homeostasis. In keeping with the previous studies of this project thus far which have been acute models of insulin dysfunction, we chose to evaluate central lactate sensing in an established model of earlyonset, diet-induced insulin resistance. Previous studies which have used this 3-day model of insulin resistance have reported a significant increase in caloric intake versus rodents on a regular chow diet (124; 205). Additionally, high fat-fed rodents had elevated plasma leptin and insulin levels, which is indirectly indicative of leptin and insulin resistance. To be sure, direct evaluation of resistance via blunted suppression of GP by hyperinsulinemic clamp and the failed anorectic action of exogenous leptin administration confirmed that these rodents were indeed leptin and insulin resistant (205). Similarly, in our study we have confirmed that the same strain of rats on a lard-oil enriched high-fat diet for 3 days rapidly develop a hypercaloric intake, hyperinsulinemia and hyperleptinemia. In this setting of insulin resistance, as determined by the results of a hyperinsulinemic clamp, the administration of i.c.v. lactate retained its' potent ability to lower hepatic GP, suppressing the rate by ~40% versus the i.c.v. saline-infused controls. This parallels the finding from a few years ago (102) indicating that i.c.v lactate retains its' effect to lower hepatic very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) in the 3-day overfed model. Although the readout in this study is different, the hypothalamic control of hepatic GP and VLDL secretion are proposed to occur by the same pathway (hypothalamic glucose metabolism \rightarrow activation of K_{ATP} channels \rightarrow trigger brain-

liver circuitry via afferent vagus nerve). Given the demonstrated effectiveness of i.c.v. lactate in uncontrolled diabetes (characterized by severe hypoinsulinemia and hyperglycemia) as well as experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia, the GP-lowering effect of central lactate in a model of insulin-resistance may not seem all that surprising. It should be noted, however, that the potent ability of hypothalamic insulin (137) and LCFA (136) to lower glucose production are blocked after high-fat feeding for merely 1 day or 3 days, respectively (124; 138). Clearly, further investigation is necessary to elucidate the mechanisms underlying this selective preservation in CNS sensing mechanisms in models of metabolic disease. Additionally, the effectiveness of central lactate was only evaluated in a single model of early-onset diet-induced insulin resistance the glucoregulatory effect of central lactate in more developed and pronounced stages of diet-induced insulin resistance/obesity needs to be assessed. After all, while the i.c.v. administration of leptin is effective in lowering GP in the early-onset of diet-induced insulin resistance (57). As such, the "upper limit" of hypothalamic lactate sensing mechanisms needs to be determined.

Overall, the results of this Study reveal the criticality of preserving or enhancing the generation of lactate in the CNS, and hint at the importance of the earlier-described metabolic coupling of astrocytes and neurons (whereby neurons preferentially use the astrocyte-derived lactate to fuel their energetic demands). These results, along with the initial study which examined normal rodents (103) , are the first to take a closer look at hypothalamic lactate metabolism, but a few other notable studies have assessed the relevance of CNS lactate sensing in other areas of the brain involved in the regulation of glucose homeostasis. Specifically, the perfusion of the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH) with lactate was sufficient to trick the region and severely blunt the counterregulatory hormone response to hypoglycemia, with a marked suppression of both glucagon and epinephrine release during a hypoglycemic clamp – a finding also seen when glucose was

perfused into the VMH (17). The caudal hindbrain has also been established as a sensor of local glucoprivation which subsequently activates a response to restore glycemia, and in an attempt to uncover the potential metabolic sensors involved, the role of lactate in particular was recently examined (146). Indeed, infusing an inhibitor of monocarboxylate transporters (which lactate transport is dependent on) into the caudal fourth ventricle of rodents resulted in increased blood glucose levels (146). Conversely, an increase in caudal hindbrain lactate worsened insulin-induced peripheral hypoglycemia (146).

To further the therapeutic relevance of these results, the ability of central lactate sensing mechanisms to detect physiological increases in circulating lactate to regulate glucose homeostasis would have to be assessed in models of metabolic disease. This has not been covered in this project. However, our lab has recently established this potential in the normal, healthy setting. Although lactate is a gluconeogenic precursor, a study in humans revealed that an elevation in either alanine or lactate does not increase overall hepatic glucose output during a clamp despite more than doubling the rate of gluconeogenesis (84). To assess the role of centrally-mediated glucoregulatory mechanisms involved in counteracting this increase in gluconeogenesis (98), normal rodents received a continuous central infusion of oxamate during a concurrent i.v. infusion of lactate which raised plasma lactate ~2-fold (as seen in exercise). During this blocking of central lactate metabolism, the i.v. lactate infusion led to an increase in glucose (98), demonstrating that there is a central component to the restraining of hepatic glucose output during increased gluconeogenic flux. Future studies are necessary to determine if this lactate-sensing mechanism is intact in the early-onset of uncontrolled diabetes or diet-induced insulin resistance.

However, some caution must be exercised in completely embracing lactate-sensing mechanisms as a means to lower plasma glucose levels. As described earlier, hyperglycemia is a major risk factor for stroke. Once the stroke occurs, the resultant ischemia means that the anaerobic metabolism from glucose to lactate (and thus lactic acid) is promoted; this "acidotoxicity" resulting from the low intracellular and extracellular pH can induce damage to neurons and glial cells, as well as the vasculature (116). As such it is important that there is adequate oxygen supply to ensure complete lactate oxidation to reduce the toxic effects of lactate accumulation. As well, lactate levels are chronically elevated in diabetic and obese individuals (111). Although this may be as an effect rather than a cause, given that lactate production by adipocytes is proportional to their volume (174), studies have shown that lactate can promote peripheral insulin resistance. Specifically, the chronic infusion of lactate (24 h) decreased glucose uptake in muscle, where there was also a corresponding decrease in GLUT4 expression (110). Even acutely (2.5 h), elevations in plasma lactate were able to reduce the glucose utilization in the heart and certain skeletal muscles (201). The latter study (201) did, however, confirm the earlier described finding that there was no effect of acute hyperlactatemia on total hepatic glucose output (during both basal and clamped settings), suggesting that the insulin resistance is localized extrahepatically.

Nevertheless, the results of our studies confirm the ability of central lactate to lower hepatic GP and flesh out the importance of central lactate metabolism in the regulation of glucose homeostasis in experimental models of uncontrolled diabetes, hypoinsulinemia, and diet-induced insulin resistance. The preservation of this nutrient-sensing pathway in the setting of metabolic dysregulation is intriguing, and given that central leptin action initially bypasses leptin resistance (155) but eventually diminishes after continued overfeeding (57), further follow-up experiments need to be performed to determine upper limit of central lactate's effectiveness.

Study II

In the same 2005 study that demonstrated the ability of central and hypothalamic lactate to lower GP in normal rodents, the administration of central/hypothalamic glucose

was also found to potently suppress hepatic GP and lower plasma glucose levels (103). The effects of central glucose and lactate were both inhibited when these metabolites were coinfused with oxamate, an inhibitor of the enzyme LDH, demonstrating the importance of glucose metabolism to trigger this brain-liver axis to lower hepatic GP (103). This finding of hypothalamic glucose sensing mechanisms regulating hepatic GP adds to the wellestablished phenomenon of "glucose effectiveness", which is the term coined to describe the process whereby acute increases in systemic glucose, independent of increases in insulin, are able to lower its own production from the liver and stimulate its clearance (1; 170; 192). In fact, when this acute systemic hyperglycemia is coupled to a concurrent inhibition of hypothalamic glucose metabolism, its suppressive effect on GP is blunted by nearly 40% (103), indicating that the hypothalamus is partly responsible for this action of glucose effectiveness.

To date, the extent of central glucose effectiveness to regulate glucose homeostasis, or more specifically suppress hepatic glucose output, has yet to be assessed in the diabetic setting. Given that glucose readily crosses the blood barrier, we can postulate that the hypothalamus is exposed to an elevated level of glucose in the setting of diabetic hyperglycemia. Indeed, in the landmark study by Silver and Erecinska (181), extracellular brain glucose levels, as determined by microdialysis in the intact rodent, were found to change in parallel with plasma glucose levels which ranged from hypoglycemia (via insulin bolus) through hyperglycemia (via glucose bolus). Although these brain glucose levels were measured in the cortex and not in the mediobasal hypothalamus, another more recent study which measured extracellular glucose in the ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH; which includes the arcuate nucleus as well as the ventromedial nucleus) during hypoglycemia and normoglycemia revealed consistent results (46). Additionally, by monitoring the brain extracellular fluid in BB rats which develop spontaneous poorly controlled diabetes, midbrain glucose levels were increased after a chronic (2 month) exposure to

hyperglycemia, and were nearly three times higher than those seen in normal rodents (83). No studies, to our knowledge, have measured the glucose levels in the interstitial space of the mediobasal hypothalamus during the acute onset of diabetes, however. Despite this lack of relevant literature, these studies suggest that it is likely that the diabetic hypothalamus is subjected to a proportionately elevated amount of glucose levels, especially considering that it lies immediately above the median eminence where the blood-brain barrier is considered to be incomplete (207). As such, we anticipated that the administration of exogenous glucose into the hypothalamus will fail to trigger the CNS glucose effectiveness to lower hepatic GP in uncontrolled diabetic rodents, and further hypothesize that sustained hyperglycemia *per se* (a.k.a. "glucotoxicity") will be a primary underlying variable that mediates this impairment.

We began testing this idea with the assessment of i.c.v. glucose administration, at the same dose (2 mM) that lowers plasma glucose levels and GP in normal rodents rodents (103), on *in vivo* glucose fluxes in rodents with an acute onset of STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes, which was described earlier in greater detail. Central glucose effectiveness was evaluated during a pancreatic clamp where insulin levels were fixed at basal levels. In these severely hypoinsulinemic STZ-rodents, the basal GP was ~22 mg/kg/min regardless of whether i.c.v. saline or glucose was infused. Serving as a positive control, the infusion of i.c.v. glucose was found to lower GP during the clamp in normal rodents by ~50%, which is line with the previous study that first published this finding (103). However, the infusion of i.c.v. glucose at the same dose was completely ineffective at regulating glucose homeostasis in STZ-diabetic rodents, as the rate of GP during the clamp was unchanged from that measured during the i.c.v infusion of the vehicle control saline. As such, i.c.v. glucose was unable to further stimulate insulin sensitivity, even with the provision of basal insulin, and it appears as if the central glucose effectiveness to lower GP was indeed impaired in this setting acute-onset uncontrolled diabetes.

STZ-induced diabetes, within the first few days, is characterized primarily by hyperglycemia and hypoinsulinemia; hyperglucagonemia and dyslipidemia do not present until several days into the onset of this form of uncontrolled diabetes (26). Therefore, in order to more clearly test the effects of glucotoxicity on the impairment of central glucose sensing, alternative experimental models of selective hyperglycemia without any accompanying insulin deficiency are needed. As such, two additional models of glucotoxicity were generated, whereby normal adult rodents were infused with intravenous (37.5%) or intrahypothalamic (4 mM) glucose for 24 h to induce whole-body or hypothalamic glucotoxicity, respectively. In a study published by Gordon Weir's group (106), normal Sprague Dawley rodents that were infused with a 35% glucose solution fpr 48 h were found to have impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from the perfused pancreas. Twentyfour hours into the infusion, these hyperglycemic rodents have an elevation of plasma glucose levels to ~325 mg/dL with a ten-fold increase in plasma insulin over saline-infused rodents. Similarly, our studies were determined that the 37.5% glucose infusion after 24 h was able to increase glucose levels to ~360 mg/dL, with a nine-fold increase in plasma insulin levels over vehicle-infused controls. After plasma glucose levels normalized over the course of ~1.5h and during the basal period of the pancreatic clamp analyses, i.v. glucoseinfused rodents still displayed hyperinsulinemia, which is indicative of an insulin-resistant state. Indicative of this is the elevated rate of glucose production seen in both the basal (~18 mg/kg/min) and clamped settings (~15 mg/kg/min), as compared to the range of 10-12 mg/kg/min seen in normal rodents in these settings.

Indeed, Rossetti and colleagues were the first to provide *in vivo* evidence that sustained hyperglycemia *per se* in an experimental rodent model leads to the development of insulin resistance. No such metabolic alterations (in insulinemia or glycemia) were displayed in 24 h i.h. glucose-infused rodents. It would not be reasonable to anticipate that the i.h. infusate *per se* (i.e. a leak into systemic circulation) would have effects on the whole

body. After all, the <8 uL of the 4 mM glucose solution that is infused over the 24h period is rather insignificant. However, neural signals initiated in the hypothalamus could have been altered by the nutrient overload, in turn causing peripheral metabolic dysfunction. Indeed, the pancreatic β -cell is heavily innervated (60), and the administration of epinephrine can impair insulin secretion in man during exogenous glucose and glucagonstimulated hyperglycemic conditions (156). Epinephrine can also induce insulin resistance, as the co-infusion epinephrine with insulin severely blunted the effects of insulin on glucose utilization and the suppression of glucose production (49). Although whether the hypothalmus is involved in this exact process is not clear, it is well known that, as part of the "fight or flight" stress response, the hypothalamus stimulates the sympathetic nervous response which in turn activates the endocrine response, which in part involves the release of epinephrine and norepinephrine from the adrenal medulla in order to mobilize glucose from the liver. Further, the hypothalamic (VMH) administration of acetylcholine, which is one of the activators that increases the secretion of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) (133) which marks the hypothalamic triggering of the stress response, promptly elevated plasma glucagon and glucose levels and suppressed insulin secretion (81). Thus, although 24 h i.h. glucose-infused (hypothalamic glucotoxic) rodents did not have any measurable alterations in insulin or glucose levels, it should be recognized that hypothalamic nuclei are additionally poised to regulate glucose homeostasis via altering insulin secretion.

When the effectiveness of hypothalamic glucose sensing was assessed in these 24 hinfused models, i.h. glucose (2 mM) lowered GP in normal, 24h-saline infused rodents. However, this acute administration of i.h. glucose was unable to do so in either of the 24 h glucose-infused rodents, despite their evident normoglycemia. Thus, the glucotoxic effects conferred by a prior hyperglycemic insult to the whole body or selectively in the hypothalamus were sufficient to nullify the glucoregulatory ability of hypothalamic glucosesensing mechanisms. It has yet to be determined whether moderately longer normalization

periods would be sufficient on their own to restore hypothalamic glucose sensing – this is a simple future direction that can be easily completed, however.

Finally, in an attempt to create a model of rescue to further test the hypothesis that glucotoxicity, i.e. sustained hyperglycemia *per se*, plays a primary role in the impairment of hypothalamic glucose sensing in diabetes, the ability hypothalamic glucose sensing to lower GP was assessed in early-onset uncontrolled diabetic rodents in which plasma glucose were continuously normalized to prevent the exposure of hyperglycemia for 24 hours. For this, we sought the use of phlorizin, which is a common experimentally used agent that inhibits the sodium glucose-linked transporters (SGLTs) of the small intestine (SGLT1) and the renal tubule (SGLT2), and does not affect the facilitative GLUTs (55). Using phlorizin to normalize blood glucose in diabetic rodents, Rossetti *et al.* were the first to demonstrate that glucotoxicity is sufficient to impair insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (166). Further studies using phlorizin determined that hyperglycemia-induced disruptions in adipocyte glucose transport (89), and glucose- and arginine-stimulated insulin secretion (165).

In our studies, the continous i.v. infusion of phlorizin into diabetic rodents upon the first display of hyperglycemia (~1 day post-STZ) normalized glucose levels within 1.5 h and maintained normoglycemia without affecting insulin levels, as these STZ+Phlorizin rodents were still markedly hypoinsulinemic. This selective effect of normoglycemia with a preservation of hypoinsulinemia was also seen in phlorizin-treatic diabetic rodents which had their pancreatic tissues depleted via pancreatectomy (166). Accompanying this normalization of blood glucose was a lowered rate of basal glucose production, which was further lowered in the presence of i.h. glucose administration. During the pancreatic clamp, i.h. glucose-infused STZ+Phlorizin rodents had a rate of GP that was further suppressed by ~45%, mirroring the rate of suppression seen in hypothalamic glucose-infused non-diabetic rodents. STZ diabetic rodents receiving the phlorizin vehicle (20% propylene glycol)

throughout the protocol displayed no such normalization or suppression of GP. As well, glucose utilization rates within the i.h. treatment groups remained similar.

A closer look reveals that when compared to the i.h. saline treatment, the i.h. glucose treatment produces a greater additional suppression of GP in normal rodents than normoglycemic STZ-rodents. This may suggest that normalization of glycemia does not fully restore hypothalamic glucose effectiveness to regulate GP to its maximum potential, at least in the current experimental protocol which provides acute basal insulin replacement for only 2 hours. Although the absolute rate of suppression by i.h. glucose in normoglycemia STZ rodents matches that seen in normal rodents, there is a clear baseline effect in i.h. saline-infused normoglycemic rodents. This may have resulted from the process of attaining normoglycemia by phlorizin, as the removal of hyperglycemia may have improved insulin sensitivity since hyperglycemia per se has been shown to inhibit insulin secretion (106; 165) and reduce insulin sensitivity. This combined with the provision of basal insulin during the clamp (166) may have dropped the rate of GP even without any activation of hypothalamic sensing mechanisms. Thus, although glucotoxicity may not be the only physiological factor (e.g. altered insulin action/sensitivity) that causes the impairment in i.h. glucose administrations to regulate GP, it is quite clear that glycemia plays an important gatekeeper in hypothalamic glucose effectiveness.

The results of Study I and Study II overall indicate that CNS lactate-sensing mechanisms lowers glucose production in uncontrolled diabetes, but that CNS glucose-sensing mechanisms are completely impaired. This impairment appears to be mediated by hyperglycemia *per se*, as hypoinsulinemic STZ-rodents with normoglycemia had this GP-lowering circuitry restored. What could possibly be mediating this selective preservation of hypothalamic lactate-sensing mechanisms in diabetes? Purely based on the differential effects of central lactate and glucose, it is not illogical to postulate that the hyperglycemia-induced cellular defect lies upstream of lactate generation and utilization in the brain.

Although it can be argued that STZ is the causative agent itself altering brain glucose metabolism, since direct STZ administration into the lateral ventricle at subdiabetogenic doses significantly reduces the activities of glycolytic enzymes (including HK, PFK, and PK) in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus (151), our studies demonstrated that hypothalamic glucose sensing was also impaired in our normal rodents with sustained hyperglycemia *per se* in the whole body or selectively in the hypothalamus, achieved independently of STZ via glucose infusions.

One possibility is that, in the face of hyperglycemia, there is a compensatory decrease in the rate of glucose transport into brain cells. Indeed, the peripheral insulin resistance marked by a reduction in insulin-stimulated glucose utilization that is conferred by extended hyperglycemia (73; 214) is thought to be due in part to a decrease in glucose transport activity. Supporting this, a multitude of studies has determined that there is a significant decrease in the expression of GLUT4 in the insulin-sensitive muscle and adipose tissue in diabetes (10; 66; 88; 184). As far as the brain is concerned, the transport of glucose is primarily dependent on two glucose transporter proteins: GLUT1, which is expressed in the blood-brain barrier endothelium and in the underlying glial cells, and GLUT3, the predominant transporter in neurons (183). GLUT1, -3, and -4 are part of the high-affinity class I of glucose transporters, which have K_m values that are below the concentration of glucose seen in the blood (19). Due to this inherent ease of saturation, alterations in their cell surface expression significantly influence the rate of glucose entry into the cell.

Although there have been several previous studies assessing the effects of glycemic changes on brain glucose transporters and/or transport, the concept of CNS transport adaptation is controversial. The seminal paper in this area of research by Gjedde and Crone revealed that the chronic hyperglycemia in STZ-induced diabetes repressed blood-brain glucose transfer, and that this was not due to a decrease in blood flow to the brain (68).

The translation of this finding to our investigation direction is not seamless however, as the study employed the use of anesthetized rodents as well as a three-week diabetic model. A year later, another group using an acute rat model of STZ-diabetes similar to ours, in which glucose levels were elevated to ~22 mM after two days, demonstrated that chronic hyperglycemia suppressed the blood-brain transport of glucose (117). Interestingly, lan Simpson and colleagues found (using in situ brain perfusion studies) that although there was an increase in glucose transport and a corresponding increase in GLUT1 protein and transcript in hypoglycemia, there were no changes in transporters or transport activity in STZ-induced *hyperglycemia* (182). Studies examining brain glucose utilization in humans are limited, but overall suggest that global brain glucose transport is not decreased in poorly controlled diabetes (58; 177). Also in contrast to the rodent findings, individuals with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes have been reported to have either unaltered (179) or even slightly *decreased* (20) brain glucose uptake when subjected to experimental hypoglycemia. It is important to note, however, that no studies to-date, to our knowledge, have specifically looked at hypothalamic glucose transport. The arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus – which has emerged as the master nuclei for the regulation of energy and glucose homeostasis and is the focus of our studies – is situated at the base of the third ventricle and lies immediately above the median eminence where the blood-brain barrier is considered to be incomplete (207). Thus, it may be the case that the hypothalamus is poised to be subjected to various circulating nutrients to a greater degree, and as a result have unique and more acute adaptive mechanisms. As such it would be reasonable to assess the impact of our early-onset model of uncontrolled diabetes on hypothalamic glucose transporter expression.

Just downstream of the transport of glucose lays its phosphorylation which is mediated by hexokinases, the activity of which need to be intact to maintain glucose homeostasis. In the periphery, type 2 diabetic subjects have lower hexokinase II activity

and transcript levels in skeletal muscle (200), and the activity of GK, the rate-limiting enzyme of glucose metabolism in the β -cell and liver, is also diminished (30). Further, the ability of the normalization of glycemia per se in diabetic rodents to rescue the glucose effectiveness of acute hyperglycemia to lower GP correlated with an increased cytoplasmic localization of GK and decreased nuclear localization with its negative regulator, GKRP (64). With respect to the regulation of glucose homeostasis by the brain, Barry Levin's group (52; 92; 107; 108) has been at the forefront in the advancement of brain glucokinase (specifically, in the VMN) as a critical mediator of hypothalamic glucose sensing. Glucokinase has been found to be expressed in the majority of VMN glucosensing neurons (93), and its upregulation has been associated with the impairment of the counterregulatory response induced by recurrent hypoglycemia (52; 107). However, these above glycemiacorrelated alterations in glucokinase activity may not translate perfectly to our situation of hyperglycemia-induced disruption hypothalamic glucose sensing because the high K_m of GK (~10 mM; (112)) make its hyperglycemia-induced down-regulations that are seen in the periphery, where such elevated glucose levels are easily seen in diabetes, unlikely in the brain where glucose levels range from 0.2 to 4.5 mM in response to variations in plasma glucose from \sim 3 to >15 mM (181).

In 2004, Ozcan *et al.* were the first to demonstrate the activation of ER stress as a means by which obesity progresses to insulin resistance and ultimately type 2 diabetes (142). In a follow-up study, they used orally active chemical chaperones to combat ER stress in diabetic and obese rodents and improve glycemia and insulin sensitivity (143). In the past year, the activation of the metabolic inflammation mediator IKK β /NF- κ B was shown to induce central leptin and insulin resistance via a diminishing of hormonal signalling (217). In the same study, IKK β /NF- κ B was found to be triggered by *hypothalamic* ER stress which in turn was caused by overnutrition mediated by a 6 h i.c.v. infusion of 20% glucose (217), and with this i.c.v. glucose infusion the hypothalamic glucose content was raised to 80% of the

levels seen in the diabetic and obese db/db mice (217). Although hypothalamic tissue lysates from our STZ-diabetic and 24 h i.v./i.h. glucose-infused have not been analysed for their glucose levels, these findings from Zhang *et al.* hint that the activation of ER stress mechanisms by overnutrition is a worthwhile mechanism to investigate as a hyperglycemia-induced cellular defect that impairs hypothalamic nutrient (specifically, glucose) sensing mechanisms.

In the meantime, there are some physiological assessments that can be done to further assess the impairment in CNS glucose sensing mechanisms to regulate hepatic GP by hyperglycemia per se, prior to tackling the potential cellular defects suggested above. In our studies, i.h. glucose was unable to inhibit GP in rodents receiving a prior insult of wholebody or hypothalamic glucose, even though the rodents were normoglycemic and the insult had been removed ~1.5 h prior to analyses. What if the rodents were tested after additional post-hyperglycemia recovery (e.g. one day)? In diabetic humans, an acute increase in plasma glucose levels sustains its' ability to lower hepatic GP provided the individuals were subjected to an intensive, 3-day normalization period (75), however, this is not the case after 1 day of glycemia normalization (120). This suggests that a slightly more prolonged normalization period may rescue the GP-suppressing action of central glucose effectiveness in 24 h glucose-infused rodents – the fact that alterations in glucose transport to the brain in response to changes in antecedent glycemia require \geq 1 day (116) further strengthen this possibility. Another question to be addressed is whether the threshold to trigger hypothalamic glucose sensing mechanisms has been altered in the diabetic brain. Experimental rodent models of diabetes do have elevated hypothalamic glucose levels (217), so a simple test would be so see if acute i.h. administrations of glucose at a higher concentration (from 2 to 4 mM) could trigger the neurocircuitry to lower hepatic glucose production. Of course, the range of glucose concentrations would need to be tested within a physiological upper limit to increase the validity of this threshold assessment.

GENERAL CONCLUSION

Diabetes and obesity are generally perceived to be peripheral metabolic diseases. However, data from the remarkable surge in literature dedicated to the CNS control of nutrient and energy homeostasis suggest that the brain is an organ that is vital in the control of food intake, nutrient production, and fuel substrate oxidation, among other processes. Of particular note, the acute administration of lactate or glucose into the hypothalamus is able to trigger a brain-liver axis to potently curtail hepatic glucose production, independent of changes in glucoregulatory hormones including insulin and glucagon. These nutrient-sensing mechanisms had yet to be assessed in the setting of metabolic disease, and this void in the literature necessitated the conducting of the experiments that have been presented here in this thesis.

We have here determined that the acute administration of central lactate retains its ability to lower GP in multiple acute models of metabolic distress, including STZ-induced uncontrolled diabetes, experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia, and diet-induced insulin resistance. Central glucose sensing mechanisms, however, could not be triggered in uncontrolled diabetic rodents. Further experimentation revealed that hypothalamic glucose administrations could not suppress GP in normoglycemic rodents that had received a prior 24 h infusion of i.v. or i.h. glucose to induce whole-body or hypothalamic glucotoxicity, respectively. However, by preventing the exposure to hyperglycemia via the administration of phlorizin to uncontrolled diabetic rodents, the effect of hypothalamic glucose to lower hepatic GP was rescued. Further work needs to be completed to 1) evaluate the potency of central lactate sensing in longer onset metabolic disease and 2) determine the glucotoxicityinduced cellular or molecular defect that mediates the impairment of central glucose sensing in diabetes.

The studies completed here add to the growing literature that evaluates the effectiveness of hypothalamic sensing mechanisms in the normal and obese and/or diabetic setting. Dysfunctions in the ability of nutrient and hormones to trigger these hypothalamusmediated regulatory effects of nutrient and energy homeostasis may be key players in the progression of insulin resistance and diabetes. Given the unfortunately enormous growth in diabetes around the world, a greater understanding of mechanisms that improve insulin sensitivity, curtail hepatic glucose production and lower plasma glucose levels is imperative. Such advancements will aid in the development of more effective therapeutics and help restrain this epidemic as a means to ultimately improve the health and well-being of those suffering from diabetes.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The results of this thesis led to the following questions that would be of interest to address with future experiments:

- 1) We here determined that central lactate lowers hepatic GP in various models of metabolic disease, including uncontrolled diabetes, experimentally-induced hypoinsulinemia, and diet-induced insulin resistance. All of these metabolic diseases, however, are of the early onset. Does central lactate sensing retain its effectiveness in longer established disease states? If not, when does it's "breaking point" occur? The effects of i.c.v. lactate administration on basal and clamped GP needs to be evaluated in rodents with at least 7 days of STZ-induced hyperglycemia and hypoinsulinemia, and high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance/obesity.
- 2) Our lab has recently determined that the inhibition of hypothalamic lactate sensing mechanisms leads to an increase in GP during the continuous i.v. infusion of the gluconeogenic substrate lactate. Is this hypothalamus-triggered effect of circulating lactate effective in uncontrolled diabetes? It would be of interest to see if this effect of circulating lactate on hepatic glucose output persists in the early-onset of STZ-induced diabetes, much like the effects of direct central lactate administrations do.
- 3) Direct hypothalamic administration of glucose fails to lower hepatic GP in normoglycemic rodents that were considered to have antecedent whole-body or hypothalamic glucotoxicity. Here, the effects of i.h. glucose on *in vivo* glucose fluxes were determined 1.5 h after the 24 h glucose insult was removed how long does this glucose-induced

impairment last after discontinuation of the glucose infusion? The effect of i.h. glucose on hepatic GP should be assessed in whole-body and hypothalamic glucotoxic rodents after longer periods (e.g. one day) of normalization to determine the point at which hypothalamic glucose sensing is restored.

- 4) Interstitial brain glucose levels are markedly increased in the diabetic state. Sustained elevations in brain glucose may lead to the desensitization of hypothalamic nutrient sensing mechanisms that regulate GP and lower blood glucose levels. Do higher concentrations of glucose (e.g. 3-5 mM) administered hypothalamically trigger this glucoregulatory circuitry in diabetes? These experiments will allow us to ascertain whether the hyperglycemia increases the nutrient threshold required to activate hypothalamic glucose sensing mechanisms.
- 5) In another study, overnutrition via prolonged i.c.v. glucose infusion increase the glucose levels in hypothalamic tissue and activated ER stress, leading to the development of hypothalamic insulin and leptin resistance. What levels of glucose are achieved in the mediobasal wedge tissue after the 24 h glucose infusions? Are ER stress markers upregulated in the hypothalamus of the two glucotoxic models? Addressing these concerns will provide insight into whether hyperglycemia-induced ER stress mechanisms are inducing hypothalamic "glucose resistance" and impairing the ability of this nutrient to lower hepatic GP.
- 6) Although a controversial topic, the potential of altered hypothalamic glucose transport (into cells) in the presence of pronounced diabetes as a means to impair hypothalamic glucose sensing needs to be explored. Via immunoblotting or more ideally immunohistochemistry, the expression of hypothalamic glucose transporters should be determined – specifically that of GLUT1 and GLUT3, which are generally agreed upon to be the most responsible glucose transporters of the glial cells and neurons, respectively.

- Ader M, Ni TC and Bergman RN. Glucose effectiveness assessed under dynamic and steady state conditions. Comparability of uptake versus production components. *J Clin Invest* 99: 1187-1199, 1997.
- 2. Agarwala GC, Mittal RK, Bapat SK and Bhardwaj UR. Effect of centrally administered insulin on blood glucose levels in dogs. *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol* 21: 11-18, 1977.
- 3. Aguilar-Bryan L and Bryan J. Molecular biology of adenosine triphosphate-sensitive potassium channels. *Endocr Rev* 20: 101-135, 1999.
- 4. Ahima RS and Flier JS. Leptin. Annu Rev Physiol 62: 413-437, 2000.
- 5. Anand BK, Chhina GS, SHARMA KN, DUA S and Singh B. ACTIVITY OF SINGLE NEURONS IN THE HYPOTHALAMIC FEEDING CENTERS: EFFECT OF GLUCOSE. *Am J Physiol* 207: 1146-1154, 1964.
- 6. Andersson B. Regulation of water intake. Physiol Rev 58: 582, 1978.
- 7. Araki E, Lipes MA, Patti ME, Bruning JC, Haag B, III, Johnson RS and Kahn CR. Alternative pathway of insulin signalling in mice with targeted disruption of the IRS-1 gene. *Nature* 372: 186-190, 1994.
- 8. Atkinson MA and Maclaren NK. The pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 331: 1428-1436, 1994.
- Bence KK, Delibegovic M, Xue B, Gorgun CZ, Hotamisligil GS, Neel BG and Kahn BB. Neuronal PTP1B regulates body weight, adiposity and leptin action. *Nat Med* 12: 917-924, 2006.
- Berger J, Biswas C, Vicario PP, Strout HV, Saperstein R and Pilch PF. Decreased expression of the insulin-responsive glucose transporter in diabetes and fasting. *Nature* 340: 70-72, 1989.
- 11. Bergman RN and Ader M. Free fatty acids and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 11: 351-356, 2000.
- 12. **Bernard C**. *Leçons de physiologie experimentale appliquée à la medicine faites au College de France*. Paris: Baillère et Fils, 1855.
- Berthoud HR and Mogenson GJ. Ingestive behavior after intracerebral and intracerebroventricular infusions of glucose and 2-deoxy-D-glucose. *Am J Physiol* 233: R127-R133, 1977.

- 14. Biggers DW, Myers SR, Neal D, Stinson R, Cooper NB, Jaspan JB, Williams PE, Cherrington AD and Frizzell RT. Role of brain in counterregulation of insulin-induced hypoglycemia in dogs. *Diabetes* 38: 7-16, 1989.
- 15. Bittar PG, Charnay Y, Pellerin L, Bouras C and Magistretti PJ. Selective distribution of lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes in neurons and astrocytes of human brain. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 16: 1079-1089, 1996.
- 16. Borg MA, Sherwin RS, Borg WP, Tamborlane WV and Shulman GI. Local ventromedial hypothalamus glucose perfusion blocks counterregulation during systemic hypoglycemia in awake rats. *J Clin Invest* 99: 361-365, 1997.
- 17. Borg MA, Tamborlane WV, Shulman GI and Sherwin RS. Local lactate perfusion of the ventromedial hypothalamus suppresses hypoglycemic counterregulation. *Diabetes* 52: 663-666, 2003.
- 18. Borg WP, Sherwin RS, During MJ, Borg MA and Shulman GI. Local ventromedial hypothalamus glucopenia triggers counterregulatory hormone release. *Diabetes* 44: 180-184, 1995.
- 19. Bouche C, Serdy S, Kahn CR and Goldfine AB. The cellular fate of glucose and its relevance in type 2 diabetes. *Endocr Rev* 25: 807-830, 2004.
- Boyle PJ, Kempers SF, O'Connor AM and Nagy RJ. Brain glucose uptake and unawareness of hypoglycemia in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 333: 1726-1731, 1995.
- 21. Bratusch-Marrain PR. Insulin-counteracting hormones: their impact on glucose metabolism. *Diabetologia* 24: 74-79, 1983.
- 22. Brooks GA, Dubouchaud H, Brown M, Sicurello JP and Butz CE. Role of mitochondrial lactate dehydrogenase and lactate oxidation in the intracellular lactate shuttle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 1129-1134, 1999.
- 23. Brown KS, Kalinowski SS, Megill JR, Durham SK and Mookhtiar KA. Glucokinase regulatory protein may interact with glucokinase in the hepatocyte nucleus. *Diabetes* 46: 179-186, 1997.
- 24. Bruning JC, Gautam D, Burks DJ, Gillette J, Schubert M, Orban PC, Klein R, Krone W, Muller-Wieland D and Kahn CR. Role of brain insulin receptor in control of body weight and reproduction. *Science* 289: 2122-2125, 2000.
- 25. Buettner C, Pocai A, Muse ED, Etgen AM, Myers MG, Jr. and Rossetti L. Critical role of STAT3 in leptin's metabolic actions. *Cell Metab* 4: 49-60, 2006.
- 26. **Burcelin R, Eddouks M, Maury J, Kande J, Assan R and Girard J**. Excessive glucose production, rather than insulin resistance, accounts for hyperglycaemia in recent-onset streptozotocin-diabetic rats. *Diabetologia* 38: 283-290, 1995.

- 27. Burdakov D and Gonzalez JA. Physiological functions of glucose-inhibited neurones. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* 195: 71-78, 2009.
- 28. Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA and Butler PC. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52: 102-110, 2003.
- 29. **Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Guisez Y, Devos R and Burn P**. Recombinant mouse OB protein: evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. *Science* 269: 546-549, 1995.
- 30. Caro JF, Triester S, Patel VK, Tapscott EB, Frazier NL and Dohm GL. Liver glucokinase: decreased activity in patients with type II diabetes. *Horm Metab Res* 27: 19-22, 1995.
- 31. Cesquini M, Stoppa GR, Prada PO, Torsoni AS, Romanatto T, Souza A, Saad MJ, Velloso LA and Torsoni MA. Citrate diminishes hypothalamic acetyl-CoA carboxylase phosphorylation and modulates satiety signals and hepatic mechanisms involved in glucose homeostasis in rats. *Life Sci* 82: 1262-1271, 2008.
- Chakravarthy MV, Zhu Y, Lopez M, Yin L, Wozniak DF, Coleman T, Hu Z, Wolfgang M, Vidal-Puig A, Lane MD and Semenkovich CF. Brain fatty acid synthase activates PPARalpha to maintain energy homeostasis. J Clin Invest 117: 2539-2552, 2007.
- 33. Cherrington AD, Lacy WW and Chiasson JL. Effect of glucagon on glucose production during insulin deficiency in the dog. *J Clin Invest* 62: 664-677, 1978.
- Cherrington AD, Stevenson RW, Steiner KE, Davis MA, Myers SR, Adkins BA, Abumrad NN and Williams PE. Insulin, glucagon, and glucose as regulators of hepatic glucose uptake and production in vivo. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 3: 307-332, 1987.
- 35. Claret M, Smith MA, Batterham RL, Selman C, Choudhury AI, Fryer LG, Clements M, Al-Qassab H, Heffron H, Xu AW, Speakman JR, Barsh GS, Viollet B, Vaulont S, Ashford ML, Carling D and Withers DJ. AMPK is essential for energy homeostasis regulation and glucose sensing by POMC and AgRP neurons. *J Clin Invest* 117: 2325-2336, 2007.
- 36. **Coleman DL**. Obese and diabetes: two mutant genes causing diabetes-obesity syndromes in mice. *Diabetologia* 14: 141-148, 1978.
- 37. **Cone RD**. Anatomy and regulation of the central melanocortin system. *Nat Neurosci* 8: 571-578, 2005.
- Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, Ohannesian JP, Marco CC, McKee LJ, Bauer TL and . Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. N Engl J Med 334: 292-295, 1996.
- 39. Consoli A. Role of liver in pathophysiology of NIDDM. *Diabetes Care* 15: 430-441, 1992.
- 40. Coppari R, Ichinose M, Lee CE, Pullen AE, Kenny CD, McGovern RA, Tang V, Liu SM, Ludwig T, Chua SC, Jr., Lowell BB and Elmquist JK. The hypothalamic arcuate nucleus: a key site for

mediating leptin's effects on glucose homeostasis and locomotor activity. *Cell Metab* 1: 63-72, 2005.

- 41. Cota D, Proulx K, Smith KA, Kozma SC, Thomas G, Woods SC and Seeley RJ. Hypothalamic mTOR signaling regulates food intake. *Science* 312: 927-930, 2006.
- 42. Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M and Hemmings BA. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature* 378: 785-789, 1995.
- 43. Cryer PE, Davis SN and Shamoon H. Hypoglycemia in diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 26: 1902-1912, 2003.
- 44. **Davis JD, Wirtshafter D, Asin KE and Brief D**. Sustained intracerebroventricular infusion of brain fuels reduces body weight and food intake in rats. *Science* 212: 81-83, 1981.
- 45. Davis SN, Dunham B, Walmsley K, Shavers C, Neal D, Williams P and Cherrington AD. Brain of the conscious dog is sensitive to physiological changes in circulating insulin. *Am J Physiol* 272: E567-E575, 1997.
- 46. **de Vries MG, Arseneau LM, Lawson ME and Beverly JL**. Extracellular glucose in rat ventromedial hypothalamus during acute and recurrent hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 52: 2767-2773, 2003.
- 47. **DeFronzo RA**. Lilly lecture 1987. The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. *Diabetes* 37: 667-687, 1988.
- 48. **DeFronzo RA**. Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Med Clin North Am* 88: 787-835, ix, 2004.
- 49. **Deibert DC and DeFronzo RA**. Epinephrine-induced insulin resistance in man. *J Clin Invest* 65: 717-721, 1980.
- 50. Drucker DJ. The biology of incretin hormones. *Cell Metab* 3: 153-165, 2006.
- 51. **Dunn-Meynell AA, Rawson NE and Levin BE**. Distribution and phenotype of neurons containing the ATP-sensitive K+ channel in rat brain. *Brain Res* 814: 41-54, 1998.
- 52. **Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Kang L, Gaspers L and Levin BE**. Glucokinase is the likely mediator of glucosensing in both glucose-excited and glucose-inhibited central neurons. *Diabetes* 51: 2056-2065, 2002.
- 53. Ebihara K, Ogawa Y, Masuzaki H, Shintani M, Miyanaga F, Aizawa-Abe M, Hayashi T, Hosoda K, Inoue G, Yoshimasa Y, Gavrilova O, Reitman ML and Nakao K. Transgenic overexpression of leptin rescues insulin resistance and diabetes in a mouse model of lipoatrophic diabetes. *Diabetes* 50: 1440-1448, 2001.
- 54. Edgerton DS, Lautz M, Scott M, Everett CA, Stettler KM, Neal DW, Chu CA and Cherrington AD. Insulin's direct effects on the liver dominate the control of hepatic glucose production. *J Clin Invest* 116: 521-527, 2006.

- 55. Ehrenkranz JR, Lewis NG, Kahn CR and Roth J. Phlorizin: a review. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 21: 31-38, 2005.
- Ekberg K, Landau BR, Wajngot A, Chandramouli V, Efendic S, Brunengraber H and Wahren J. Contributions by kidney and liver to glucose production in the postabsorptive state and after 60 h of fasting. *Diabetes* 48: 292-298, 1999.
- 57. **El-Haschimi K, Pierroz DD, Hileman SM, Bjorbaek C and Flier JS**. Two defects contribute to hypothalamic leptin resistance in mice with diet-induced obesity. *J Clin Invest* 105: 1827-1832, 2000.
- 58. **Fanelli CG, Dence CS, Markham J, Videen TO, Paramore DS, Cryer PE and Powers WJ**. Blood-to-brain glucose transport and cerebral glucose metabolism are not reduced in poorly controlled type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 47: 1444-1450, 1998.
- 59. **Fioramonti X, Contie S, Song Z, Routh VH, Lorsignol A and Penicaud L**. Characterization of glucosensing neuron subpopulations in the arcuate nucleus: integration in neuropeptide Y and pro-opio melanocortin networks? *Diabetes* 56: 1219-1227, 2007.
- 60. Flatt PR, Abdel-Wahab YH, Boyd AC, Barnett CR and O'Harte FP. Pancreatic B-cell dysfunction and glucose toxicity in non-insulin-dependent diabetes. *Proc Nutr Soc* 56: 243-262, 1997.
- 61. Fowler MJ. Microvascular and Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes. Clin Diabetes 26, 77-82. 2008.

Ref Type: Generic

- 62. Frederich RC, Hamann A, Anderson S, Lollmann B, Lowell BB and Flier JS. Leptin levels reflect body lipid content in mice: evidence for diet-induced resistance to leptin action. *Nat Med* 1: 1311-1314, 1995.
- 63. Friedman JM and Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* 395: 763-770, 1998.
- 64. **Fujimoto Y, Torres TP, Donahue EP and Shiota M**. Glucose toxicity is responsible for the development of impaired regulation of endogenous glucose production and hepatic glucokinase in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. *Diabetes* 55: 2479-2490, 2006.
- 65. Gao S, Kinzig KP, Aja S, Scott KA, Keung W, Kelly S, Strynadka K, Chohnan S, Smith WW, Tamashiro KL, Ladenheim EE, Ronnett GV, Tu Y, Birnbaum MJ, Lopaschuk GD and Moran TH. Leptin activates hypothalamic acetyl-CoA carboxylase to inhibit food intake. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104: 17358-17363, 2007.
- 66. **Garvey WT, Huecksteadt TP and Birnbaum MJ**. Pretranslational suppression of an insulinresponsive glucose transporter in rats with diabetes mellitus. *Science* 245: 60-63, 1989.
- 67. Gelling RW, Morton GJ, Morrison CD, Niswender KD, Myers MG, Jr., Rhodes CJ and Schwartz MW. Insulin action in the brain contributes to glucose lowering during insulin treatment of diabetes. *Cell Metab* 3: 67-73, 2006.

- 68. **Gjedde A and Crone C**. Blood-brain glucose transfer: repression in chronic hyperglycemia. *Science* 214: 456-457, 1981.
- 69. **Gordon CJ and Heath JE**. Integration and central processing in temperature regulation. *Annu Rev Physiol* 48: 595-612, 1986.
- 70. **Grill HJ, Carmody JS, Amanda SL, Williams DL and Kaplan JM**. Attenuation of lipopolysaccharide anorexia by antagonism of caudal brain stem but not forebrain GLP-1-R. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 287: R1190-R1193, 2004.
- 71. Guyenet PG. The sympathetic control of blood pressure. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 7: 335-346, 2006.
- 72. **Ha HC and Snyder SH**. Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase is a mediator of necrotic cell death by ATP depletion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 13978-13982, 1999.
- 73. Hager SR, Jochen AL and Kalkhoff RK. Insulin resistance in normal rats infused with glucose for 72 h. *Am J Physiol* 260: E353-E362, 1991.
- 74. Halaas JL, Gajiwala KS, Maffei M, Cohen SL, Chait BT, Rabinowitz D, Lallone RL, Burley SK and Friedman JM. Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. *Science* 269: 543-546, 1995.
- 75. Hawkins M, Gabriely I, Wozniak R, Reddy K, Rossetti L and Shamoon H. Glycemic control determines hepatic and peripheral glucose effectiveness in type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 51: 2179-2189, 2002.
- 76. He W, Lam TK, Obici S and Rossetti L. Molecular disruption of hypothalamic nutrient sensing induces obesity. *Nat Neurosci* 9: 227-233, 2006.
- 77. Hogan P, Dall T and Nikolov P. Economic costs of diabetes in the US in 2002. *Diabetes Care* 26: 917-932, 2003.
- Howard JK, Cave BJ, Oksanen LJ, Tzameli I, Bjorbaek C and Flier JS. Enhanced leptin sensitivity and attenuation of diet-induced obesity in mice with haploinsufficiency of Socs3. *Nat Med* 10: 734-738, 2004.
- 79. Hu Z, Cha SH, Chohnan S and Lane MD. Hypothalamic malonyl-CoA as a mediator of feeding behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 12624-12629, 2003.
- Inoue H, Ogawa W, Asakawa A, Okamoto Y, Nishizawa A, Matsumoto M, Teshigawara K, Matsuki Y, Watanabe E, Hiramatsu R, Notohara K, Katayose K, Okamura H, Kahn CR, Noda T, Takeda K, Akira S, Inui A and Kasuga M. Role of hepatic STAT3 in brain-insulin action on hepatic glucose production. *Cell Metab* 3: 267-275, 2006.
- 81. Ishikawa K, Suzuki M and Shimazu T. Effects of acetylcholine injection into the hypothalamus on the insulin and glucagon release. *Neuroendocrinology* 34: 310-314, 1982.
- 82. **Itoh Y, Esaki T, Shimoji K, Cook M, Law MJ, Kaufman E and Sokoloff L**. Dichloroacetate effects on glucose and lactate oxidation by neurons and astroglia in vitro and on glucose utilization by brain in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 4879-4884, 2003.
- 83. Jacob RJ, Fan X, Evans ML, Dziura J and Sherwin RS. Brain glucose levels are elevated in chronically hyperglycemic diabetic rats: no evidence for protective adaptation by the blood brain barrier. *Metabolism* 51: 1522-1524, 2002.
- 84. **Jenssen T, Nurjhan N, Consoli A and Gerich JE**. Failure of substrate-induced gluconeogenesis to increase overall glucose appearance in normal humans. Demonstration of hepatic autoregulation without a change in plasma glucose concentration. *J Clin Invest* 86: 489-497, 1990.
- 85. Jin SL, Han VK, Simmons JG, Towle AC, Lauder JM and Lund PK. Distribution of glucagonlike peptide I (GLP-I), glucagon, and glicentin in the rat brain: an immunocytochemical study. *J Comp Neurol* 271: 519-532, 1988.
- 86. Johnson JH, Ogawa A, Chen L, Orci L, Newgard CB, Alam T and Unger RH. Underexpression of beta cell high Km glucose transporters in noninsulin-dependent diabetes. *Science* 250: 546-549, 1990.
- 87. Junod A, Lambert AE, Stauffacher W and Renold AE. Diabetogenic action of streptozotocin: relationship of dose to metabolic response. *J Clin Invest* 48: 2129-2139, 1969.
- 88. Kahn BB, Charron MJ, Lodish HF, Cushman SW and Flier JS. Differential regulation of two glucose transporters in adipose cells from diabetic and insulin-treated diabetic rats. *J Clin Invest* 84: 404-411, 1989.
- 89. Kahn BB, Shulman GI, DeFronzo RA, Cushman SW and Rossetti L. Normalization of blood glucose in diabetic rats with phlorizin treatment reverses insulin-resistant glucose transport in adipose cells without restoring glucose transporter gene expression. *J Clin Invest* 87: 561-570, 1991.
- 90. **Kahn SE**. Clinical review 135: The importance of beta-cell failure in the development and progression of type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 86: 4047-4058, 2001.
- 91. Kahn SE, Hull RL and Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 444: 840-846, 2006.
- 92. Kang L, Dunn-Meynell AA, Routh VH, Gaspers LD, Nagata Y, Nishimura T, Eiki J, Zhang BB and Levin BE. Glucokinase is a critical regulator of ventromedial hypothalamic neuronal glucosensing. *Diabetes* 55: 412-420, 2006.
- Kang L, Routh VH, Kuzhikandathil EV, Gaspers LD and Levin BE. Physiological and molecular characteristics of rat hypothalamic ventromedial nucleus glucosensing neurons. *Diabetes* 53: 549-559, 2004.
- 94. Kasischke KA, Vishwasrao HD, Fisher PJ, Zipfel WR and Webb WW. Neural activity triggers neuronal oxidative metabolism followed by astrocytic glycolysis. *Science* 305: 99-103, 2004.

- 95. **KENNEDY GC**. The role of depot fat in the hypothalamic control of food intake in the rat. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 140: 578-596, 1953.
- 96. Kievit P, Howard JK, Badman MK, Balthasar N, Coppari R, Mori H, Lee CE, Elmquist JK, Yoshimura A and Flier JS. Enhanced leptin sensitivity and improved glucose homeostasis in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 in POMC-expressing cells. *Cell Metab* 4: 123-132, 2006.
- 97. Knauf C, Cani PD, Perrin C, Iglesias MA, Maury JF, Bernard E, Benhamed F, Gremeaux T, Drucker DJ, Kahn CR, Girard J, Tanti JF, Delzenne NM, Postic C and Burcelin R. Brain glucagon-like peptide-1 increases insulin secretion and muscle insulin resistance to favor hepatic glycogen storage. *J Clin Invest* 115: 3554-3563, 2005.
- 98. Kokorovic A, Cheung GW, Rossetti L and Lam TK. Hypothalamic sensing of circulating lactate regulates glucose production. *J Cell Mol Med* 2008.
- 99. Konner AC, Janoschek R, Plum L, Jordan SD, Rother E, Ma X, Xu C, Enriori P, Hampel B, Barsh GS, Kahn CR, Cowley MA, Ashcroft FM and Bruning JC. Insulin action in AgRPexpressing neurons is required for suppression of hepatic glucose production. *Cell Metab* 5: 438-449, 2007.
- 100. Lam CK, Chari M, Wang PY and Lam TK. Central lactate metabolism regulates food intake. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 295: E491-E496, 2008.
- 101. Lam TK, Carpentier A, Lewis GF, van de Werve G, Fantus IG and Giacca A. Mechanisms of the free fatty acid-induced increase in hepatic glucose production. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284: E863-E873, 2003.
- 102. Lam TK, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Pocai A, Bhanot S, Tso P, Schwartz GJ and Rossetti L. Brain glucose metabolism controls the hepatic secretion of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. *Nat Med* 13: 171-180, 2007.
- 103. Lam TK, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Pocai A and Rossetti L. Regulation of blood glucose by hypothalamic pyruvate metabolism. *Science* 309: 943-947, 2005.
- 104. Lam TK, Pocai A, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Obici S, Bryan J, Aguilar-Bryan L, Schwartz GJ and Rossetti L. Hypothalamic sensing of circulating fatty acids is required for glucose homeostasis. *Nat Med* 11: 320-327, 2005.
- 105. Landau BR. Methods for measuring glycogen cycling. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 281: E413-E419, 2001.
- 106. Leahy JL, Cooper HE, Deal DA and Weir GC. Chronic hyperglycemia is associated with impaired glucose influence on insulin secretion. A study in normal rats using chronic in vivo glucose infusions. *J Clin Invest* 77: 908-915, 1986.
- 107. Levin BE, Becker TC, Eiki J, Zhang BB and Dunn-Meynell AA. Ventromedial hypothalamic glucokinase is an important mediator of the counterregulatory response to insulin-induced hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 57: 1371-1379, 2008.

- 108. Levin BE, Routh VH, Kang L, Sanders NM and Dunn-Meynell AA. Neuronal glucosensing: what do we know after 50 years? *Diabetes* 53: 2521-2528, 2004.
- 109. Loftus TM, Jaworsky DE, Frehywot GL, Townsend CA, Ronnett GV, Lane MD and Kuhajda FP. Reduced food intake and body weight in mice treated with fatty acid synthase inhibitors. *Science* 288: 2379-2381, 2000.
- 110. Lombardi AM, Fabris R, Bassetto F, Serra R, Leturque A, Federspil G, Girard J and Vettor R. Hyperlactatemia reduces muscle glucose uptake and GLUT-4 mRNA while increasing (E1alpha)PDH gene expression in rat. *Am J Physiol* 276: E922-E929, 1999.
- 111. Lovejoy J, Mellen B and Digirolamo M. Lactate generation following glucose ingestion: relation to obesity, carbohydrate tolerance and insulin sensitivity. *Int J Obes* 14: 843-855, 1990.
- 112. Lynch RM, Tompkins LS, Brooks HL, Dunn-Meynell AA and Levin BE. Localization of glucokinase gene expression in the rat brain. *Diabetes* 49: 693-700, 2000.
- 113. MacGregor GG, Dong K, Vanoye CG, Tang L, Giebisch G and Hebert SC. Nucleotides and phospholipids compete for binding to the C terminus of KATP channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99: 2726-2731, 2002.
- 114. Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L, Rothman DL and Shulman RG. Energy on demand. *Science* 283: 496-497, 1999.
- 115. Mayer J. Glucostatic mechanism of regulation of food intake. N Engl J Med 249: 13-16, 1953.
- 116. McCall AL. The impact of diabetes on the CNS. *Diabetes* 41: 557-570, 1992.
- 117. McCall AL, Millington WR and Wurtman RJ. Metabolic fuel and amino acid transport into the brain in experimental diabetes mellitus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 79: 5406-5410, 1982.
- 118. **McMahon LR and Wellman PJ**. PVN infusion of GLP-1-(7-36) amide suppresses feeding but does not induce aversion or alter locomotion in rats. *Am J Physiol* 274: R23-R29, 1998.
- 119. Merchenthaler I, Lane M and Shughrue P. Distribution of pre-pro-glucagon and glucagonlike peptide-1 receptor messenger RNAs in the rat central nervous system. *J Comp Neurol* 403: 261-280, 1999.
- 120. Mevorach M, Giacca A, Aharon Y, Hawkins M, Shamoon H and Rossetti L. Regulation of endogenous glucose production by glucose per se is impaired in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* 102: 744-753, 1998.
- 121. Minokoshi Y, Alquier T, Furukawa N, Kim YB, Lee A, Xue B, Mu J, Foufelle F, Ferre P, Birnbaum MJ, Stuck BJ and Kahn BB. AMP-kinase regulates food intake by responding to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus. *Nature* 428: 569-574, 2004.
- 122. **Miselis RR and Epstein AN**. Feeding induced by intracerebroventricular 2-deoxy-D-glucose in the rat. *Am J Physiol* 229: 1438-1447, 1975.

- 123. **Mitrakou A, Ryan C, Veneman T, Mokan M, Jenssen T, Kiss I, Durrant J, Cryer P and Gerich** J. Hierarchy of glycemic thresholds for counterregulatory hormone secretion, symptoms, and cerebral dysfunction. *Am J Physiol* 260: E67-E74, 1991.
- 124. Morgan K, Obici S and Rossetti L. Hypothalamic responses to long-chain fatty acids are nutritionally regulated. *J Biol Chem* 279: 31139-31148, 2004.
- 125. Mori H, Hanada R, Hanada T, Aki D, Mashima R, Nishinakamura H, Torisu T, Chien KR, Yasukawa H and Yoshimura A. Socs3 deficiency in the brain elevates leptin sensitivity and confers resistance to diet-induced obesity. *Nat Med* 10: 739-743, 2004.
- 126. **Morton GJ, Gelling RW, Niswender KD, Morrison CD, Rhodes CJ and Schwartz MW**. Leptin regulates insulin sensitivity via phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase signaling in mediobasal hypothalamic neurons. *Cell Metab* 2: 411-420, 2005.
- 127. **Muroya S, Yada T, Shioda S and Takigawa M**. Glucose-sensitive neurons in the rat arcuate nucleus contain neuropeptide Y. *Neurosci Lett* 264: 113-116, 1999.
- 128. **Niswender KD, Morton GJ, Stearns WH, Rhodes CJ, Myers MG, Jr. and Schwartz MW**. Intracellular signalling. Key enzyme in leptin-induced anorexia. *Nature* 413: 794-795, 2001.
- 129. Nordlie RC, Foster JD and Lange AJ. Regulation of glucose production by the liver. *Annu Rev Nutr* 19: 379-406, 1999.
- 130. Nukatsuka M, Sakurai H, Yoshimura Y, Nishida M and Kawada J. Enhancement by streptozotocin of O2- radical generation by the xanthine oxidase system of pancreatic beta-cells. *FEBS Lett* 239: 295-298, 1988.
- 131. Nurjhan N, Campbell PJ, Kennedy FP, Miles JM and Gerich JE. Insulin dose-response characteristics for suppression of glycerol release and conversion to glucose in humans. *Diabetes* 35: 1326-1331, 1986.
- 132. O'Brien RM, Lucas PC, Forest CD, Magnuson MA and Granner DK. Identification of a sequence in the PEPCK gene that mediates a negative effect of insulin on transcription. *Science* 249: 533-537, 1990.
- 133. **O'Connor TM, O'Halloran DJ and Shanahan F**. The stress response and the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis: from molecule to melancholia. *QJM* 93: 323-333, 2000.
- Obici S, Feng Z, Arduini A, Conti R and Rossetti L. Inhibition of hypothalamic carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1 decreases food intake and glucose production. *Nat Med* 9: 756-761, 2003.
- 135. **Obici S, Feng Z, Karkanias G, Baskin DG and Rossetti L**. Decreasing hypothalamic insulin receptors causes hyperphagia and insulin resistance in rats. *Nat Neurosci* 5: 566-572, 2002.
- 136. **Obici S, Feng Z, Morgan K, Stein D, Karkanias G and Rossetti L**. Central administration of oleic acid inhibits glucose production and food intake. *Diabetes* 51: 271-275, 2002.

- 137. **Obici S, Zhang BB, Karkanias G and Rossetti L**. Hypothalamic insulin signaling is required for inhibition of glucose production. *Nat Med* 8: 1376-1382, 2002.
- 138. Ono H, Pocai A, Wang Y, Sakoda H, Asano T, Backer JM, Schwartz GJ and Rossetti L. Activation of hypothalamic S6 kinase mediates diet-induced hepatic insulin resistance in rats. *J Clin Invest* 118: 2959-2968, 2008.
- 139. **Oomura Y, Ono T, Ooyama H and Wayner MJ**. Glucose and osmosensitive neurones of the rat hypothalamus. *Nature* 222: 282-284, 1969.
- 140. Orci L, Unger RH, Ravazzola M, Ogawa A, Komiya I, Baetens D, Lodish HF and Thorens B. Reduced beta-cell glucose transporter in new onset diabetic BB rats. *J Clin Invest* 86: 1615-1622, 1990.
- 141. Ozcan L, Ergin AS, Lu A, Chung J, Sarkar S, Nie D, Myers MG, Jr. and Ozcan U. Endoplasmic reticulum stress plays a central role in development of leptin resistance. *Cell Metab* 9: 35-51, 2009.
- 142. Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, Lee AH, Iwakoshi NN, Ozdelen E, Tuncman G, Gorgun C, Glimcher LH and Hotamisligil GS. Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. *Science* 306: 457-461, 2004.
- 143. Ozcan U, Yilmaz E, Ozcan L, Furuhashi M, Vaillancourt E, Smith RO, Gorgun CZ and Hotamisligil GS. Chemical chaperones reduce ER stress and restore glucose homeostasis in a mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Science* 313: 1137-1140, 2006.
- 144. **Pardini AW, Nguyen HT, Figlewicz DP, Baskin DG, Williams DL, Kim F and Schwartz MW**. Distribution of insulin receptor substrate-2 in brain areas involved in energy homeostasis. *Brain Res* 1112: 169-178, 2006.
- 145. Parton LE, Ye CP, Coppari R, Enriori PJ, Choi B, Zhang CY, Xu C, Vianna CR, Balthasar N, Lee CE, Elmquist JK, Cowley MA and Lowell BB. Glucose sensing by POMC neurons regulates glucose homeostasis and is impaired in obesity. *Nature* 449: 228-232, 2007.
- 146. **Patil GD and Briski KP**. Lactate is a critical "sensed" variable in caudal hindbrain monitoring of CNS metabolic stasis. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 289: R1777-R1786, 2005.
- Pellerin L and Magistretti PJ. Glutamate uptake into astrocytes stimulates aerobic glycolysis: a mechanism coupling neuronal activity to glucose utilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91: 10625-10629, 1994.
- 148. **Pellerin L, Pellegri G, Bittar PG, Charnay Y, Bouras C, Martin JL, Stella N and Magistretti PJ**. Evidence supporting the existence of an activity-dependent astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle. *Dev Neurosci* 20: 291-299, 1998.
- 149. **Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T and Collins F**. Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* 269: 540-543, 1995.

- 150. **Pilkis SJ and Granner DK**. Molecular physiology of the regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycolysis. *Annu Rev Physiol* 54: 885-909, 1992.
- 151. **Plaschke K and Hoyer S**. Action of the diabetogenic drug streptozotocin on glycolytic and glycogenolytic metabolism in adult rat brain cortex and hippocampus. *Int J Dev Neurosci* 11: 477-483, 1993.
- 152. Plum L, Ma X, Hampel B, Balthasar N, Coppari R, Munzberg H, Shanabrough M, Burdakov D, Rother E, Janoschek R, Alber J, Belgardt BF, Koch L, Seibler J, Schwenk F, Fekete C, Suzuki A, Mak TW, Krone W, Horvath TL, Ashcroft FM and Bruning JC. Enhanced PIP3 signaling in POMC neurons causes KATP channel activation and leads to diet-sensitive obesity. J Clin Invest 116: 1886-1901, 2006.
- 153. Pocai A, Lam TK, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Obici S, Schwartz GJ, Bryan J, Aguilar-Bryan L and Rossetti L. Hypothalamic K(ATP) channels control hepatic glucose production. *Nature* 434: 1026-1031, 2005.
- 154. **Pocai A, Lam TK, Obici S, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Muse ED, Arduini A and Rossetti L**. Restoration of hypothalamic lipid sensing normalizes energy and glucose homeostasis in overfed rats. *J Clin Invest* 116: 1081-1091, 2006.
- 155. **Pocai A, Morgan K, Buettner C, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Obici S and Rossetti L**. Central leptin acutely reverses diet-induced hepatic insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 54: 3182-3189, 2005.
- 156. **Porte D, Jr., Graber AL, Kuzuya T and Williams RH**. The effect of epinephrine on immunoreactive insulin levels in man. *J Clin Invest* 45: 228-236, 1966.
- 157. **Reaven GM**. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37: 1595-1607, 1988.
- 158. Rhodes CJ. Type 2 diabetes-a matter of beta-cell life and death? *Science* 307: 380-384, 2005.
- 159. Roden M and Bernroider E. Hepatic glucose metabolism in humans--its role in health and disease. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 17: 365-383, 2003.
- 160. Roden M, Price TB, Perseghin G, Petersen KF, Rothman DL, Cline GW and Shulman GI. Mechanism of free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance in humans. *J Clin Invest* 97: 2859-2865, 1996.
- 161. Ropelle ER, Pauli JR, Fernandes MF, Rocco SA, Marin RM, Morari J, Souza KK, Dias MM, Gomes-Marcondes MC, Gontijo JA, Franchini KG, Velloso LA, Saad MJ and Carvalheira JB. A central role for neuronal AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) in high-protein diet-induced weight loss. *Diabetes* 57: 594-605, 2008.
- 162. Ross R, Wang PY, Chari M, Lam CK, Caspi L, Ono H, Muse ED, Li X, Gutierrez-Juarez R, Light PE, Schwartz GJ, Rossetti L and Lam TK. Hypothalamic protein kinase C regulates glucose production. *Diabetes* 57: 2061-2065, 2008.

- 163. **Rossetti L, Giaccari A, Barzilai N, Howard K, Sebel G and Hu M**. Mechanism by which hyperglycemia inhibits hepatic glucose production in conscious rats. Implications for the pathophysiology of fasting hyperglycemia in diabetes. *J Clin Invest* 92: 1126-1134, 1993.
- 164. Rossetti L, Giaccari A and DeFronzo RA. Glucose toxicity. Diabetes Care 13: 610-630, 1990.
- 165. **Rossetti L, Shulman GI, Zawalich W and DeFronzo RA**. Effect of chronic hyperglycemia on in vivo insulin secretion in partially pancreatectomized rats. *J Clin Invest* 80: 1037-1044, 1987.
- 166. **Rossetti L, Smith D, Shulman GI, Papachristou D and DeFronzo RA**. Correction of hyperglycemia with phlorizin normalizes tissue sensitivity to insulin in diabetic rats. *J Clin Invest* 79: 1510-1515, 1987.
- 167. Rossini AA, Like AA, Chick WL, Appel MC and Cahill GF, Jr. Studies of streptozotocininduced insulitis and diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 74: 2485-2489, 1977.
- 168. **Rouach N, Koulakoff A, Abudara V, Willecke K and Giaume C**. Astroglial metabolic networks sustain hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* 322: 1551-1555, 2008.
- 169. **Routh VH**. Glucose-sensing neurons: are they physiologically relevant? *Physiol Behav* 76: 403-413, 2002.
- 170. Sacca L, Hendler R and Sherwin RS. Hyperglycemia inhibits glucose production in man independent of changes in glucoregulatory hormones. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 47: 1160-1163, 1978.
- Sacca L, Vigorito C, Cicala M, Corso G and Sherwin RS. Role of gluconeogenesis in epinephrine-stimulated hepatic glucose production in humans. *Am J Physiol* 245: E294-E302, 1983.
- 172. **Saltiel AR and Kahn CR**. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature* 414: 799-806, 2001.
- 173. Sandoval DA, Bagnol D, Woods SC, D'Alessio DA and Seeley RJ. Arcuate glucagon-like peptide 1 receptors regulate glucose homeostasis but not food intake. *Diabetes* 57: 2046-2054, 2008.
- Sandqvist MM, Eriksson JW and Jansson PA. Increased lactate release per fat cell in normoglycemic first-degree relatives of individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 50: 2344-2348, 2001.
- 175. Schwartz MW, Baskin DG, Bukowski TR, Kuijper JL, Foster D, Lasser G, Prunkard DE, Porte D, Jr., Woods SC, Seeley RJ and Weigle DS. Specificity of leptin action on elevated blood glucose levels and hypothalamic neuropeptide Y gene expression in ob/ob mice. *Diabetes* 45: 531-535, 1996.
- 176. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr., Seeley RJ and Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* 404: 661-671, 2000.

- 177. Seaquist ER, Tkac I, Damberg G, Thomas W and Gruetter R. Brain glucose concentrations in poorly controlled diabetes mellitus as measured by high-field magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Metabolism* 54: 1008-1013, 2005.
- 178. **Seeley RJ and Woods SC**. Monitoring of stored and available fuel by the CNS: implications for obesity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 4: 901-909, 2003.
- 179. Segel SA, Fanelli CG, Dence CS, Markham J, Videen TO, Paramore DS, Powers WJ and Cryer PE. Blood-to-brain glucose transport, cerebral glucose metabolism, and cerebral blood flow are not increased after hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 50: 1911-1917, 2001.
- Shimomura I, Hammer RE, Ikemoto S, Brown MS and Goldstein JL. Leptin reverses insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus in mice with congenital lipodystrophy. *Nature* 401: 73-76, 1999.
- 181. Silver IA and Erecinska M. Extracellular glucose concentration in mammalian brain: continuous monitoring of changes during increased neuronal activity and upon limitation in oxygen supply in normo-, hypo-, and hyperglycemic animals. J Neurosci 14: 5068-5076, 1994.
- 182. Simpson IA, Appel NM, Hokari M, Oki J, Holman GD, Maher F, Koehler-Stec EM, Vannucci SJ and Smith QR. Blood-brain barrier glucose transporter: effects of hypo- and hyperglycemia revisited. *J Neurochem* 72: 238-247, 1999.
- 183. Simpson IA, Carruthers A and Vannucci SJ. Supply and demand in cerebral energy metabolism: the role of nutrient transporters. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27: 1766-1791, 2007.
- 184. Sivitz WI, DeSautel SL, Kayano T, Bell GI and Pessin JE. Regulation of glucose transporter messenger RNA in insulin-deficient states. *Nature* 340: 72-74, 1989.
- 185. **STETTEN D, Jr., WELT ID, INGLE DJ and MORLEY EH**. Rates of glucose production and oxidation in normal and diabetic rats. *J Biol Chem* 192: 817-830, 1951.
- 186. **Sutherland C, O'Brien RM and Granner DK**. New connections in the regulation of PEPCK gene expression by insulin. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 351: 191-199, 1996.
- 187. **Szkudelski T**. The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. *Physiol Res* 50: 537-546, 2001.
- 188. **Taguchi A, Wartschow LM and White MF**. Brain IRS2 signaling coordinates life span and nutrient homeostasis. *Science* 317: 369-372, 2007.
- 189. Tamemoto H, Kadowaki T, Tobe K, Yagi T, Sakura H, Hayakawa T, Terauchi Y, Ueki K, Kaburagi Y, Satoh S and . Insulin resistance and growth retardation in mice lacking insulin receptor substrate-1. *Nature* 372: 182-186, 1994.
- 190. Taylor SI. Deconstructing type 2 diabetes. Cell 97: 9-12, 1999.

- 191. Thorens B, Weir GC, Leahy JL, Lodish HF and Bonner-Weir S. Reduced expression of the liver/beta-cell glucose transporter isoform in glucose-insensitive pancreatic beta cells of diabetic rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87: 6492-6496, 1990.
- 192. **Tonelli J, Kishore P, Lee DE and Hawkins M**. The regulation of glucose effectiveness: how glucose modulates its own production. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 8: 450-456, 2005.
- 193. **Turk J, Corbett JA, Ramanadham S, Bohrer A and McDaniel ML**. Biochemical evidence for nitric oxide formation from streptozotocin in isolated pancreatic islets. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 197: 1458-1464, 1993.
- 194. Turton MD, O'Shea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards CM, Meeran K, Choi SJ, Taylor GM, Heath MM, Lambert PD, Wilding JP, Smith DM, Ghatei MA, Herbert J and Bloom SR. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. *Nature* 379: 69-72, 1996.
- 195. Um SH, D'Alessio D and Thomas G. Nutrient overload, insulin resistance, and ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1, S6K1. *Cell Metab* 3: 393-402, 2006.
- 196. van den Hoek AM, Voshol PJ, Karnekamp BN, Buijs RM, Romijn JA, Havekes LM and Pijl H. Intracerebroventricular neuropeptide Y infusion precludes inhibition of glucose and VLDL production by insulin. *Diabetes* 53: 2529-2534, 2004.
- 197. Van HM, Compton DS, France CF, Tedesco RP, Fawzi AB, Graziano MP, Sybertz EJ, Strader CD and Davis HR, Jr. Diet-induced obese mice develop peripheral, but not central, resistance to leptin. *J Clin Invest* 99: 385-390, 1997.
- 198. Van SE and Gerin I. The glucose-6-phosphatase system. *Biochem J* 362: 513-532, 2002.
- 199. Varndell IM, Bishop AE, Sikri KL, Uttenthal LO, Bloom SR and Polak JM. Localization of glucagon-like peptide (GLP) immunoreactants in human gut and pancreas using light and electron microscopic immunocytochemistry. *J Histochem Cytochem* 33: 1080-1086, 1985.
- 200. Vestergaard H, Bjorbaek C, Hansen T, Larsen FS, Granner DK and Pedersen O. Impaired activity and gene expression of hexokinase II in muscle from non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. *J Clin Invest* 96: 2639-2645, 1995.
- 201. Vettor R, Lombardi AM, Fabris R, Pagano C, Cusin I, Rohner-Jeanrenaud F, Federspil G and Jeanrenaud B. Lactate infusion in anesthetized rats produces insulin resistance in heart and skeletal muscles. *Metabolism* 46: 684-690, 1997.
- Vlassenko AG, Rundle MM, Raichle ME and Mintun MA. Regulation of blood flow in activated human brain by cytosolic NADH/NAD+ ratio. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 1964-1969, 2006.
- 203. Wakil SJ, Stoops JK and Joshi VC. Fatty acid synthesis and its regulation. *Annu Rev Biochem* 52: 537-579, 1983.

- 204. Waldhausl WK, Gasic S, Bratusch-Marrain P, Komjati M and Korn A. Effect of stress hormones on splanchnic substrate and insulin disposal after glucose ingestion in healthy humans. *Diabetes* 36: 127-135, 1987.
- 205. Wang J, Obici S, Morgan K, Barzilai N, Feng Z and Rossetti L. Overfeeding rapidly induces leptin and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 50: 2786-2791, 2001.
- 206. Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R and King H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. *Diabetes Care* 27: 1047-1053, 2004.
- 207. Williams G, Bing C, Cai XJ, Harrold JA, King PJ and Liu XH. The hypothalamus and the control of energy homeostasis: different circuits, different purposes. *Physiol Behav* 74: 683-701, 2001.
- 208. Withers DJ, Gutierrez JS, Towery H, Burks DJ, Ren JM, Previs S, Zhang Y, Bernal D, Pons S, Shulman GI, Bonner-Weir S and White MF. Disruption of IRS-2 causes type 2 diabetes in mice. *Nature* 391: 900-904, 1998.
- Wolfgang MJ and Lane MD. Control of energy homeostasis: role of enzymes and intermediates of fatty acid metabolism in the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Nutr* 26: 23-44, 2006.
- 210. **Wolfgang MJ and Lane MD**. The role of hypothalamic malonyl-CoA in energy homeostasis. *J Biol Chem* 281: 37265-37269, 2006.
- 211. Woods SC, Seeley RJ and Cota D. Regulation of food intake through hypothalamic signaling networks involving mTOR. *Annu Rev Nutr* 28: 295-311, 2008.
- 212. World Health Organization, International Diabetes Federation. Diabetes Action Now: An Initiative of the World Health Organization and International Diabetes Association. 2004.
 WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data 4.

Ref Type: Report

- 213. Xu AW, Kaelin CB, Takeda K, Akira S, Schwartz MW and Barsh GS. PI3K integrates the action of insulin and leptin on hypothalamic neurons. *J Clin Invest* 115: 951-958, 2005.
- 214. Yki-Jarvinen H, Sahlin K, Ren JM and Koivisto VA. Localization of rate-limiting defect for glucose disposal in skeletal muscle of insulin-resistant type I diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 39: 157-167, 1990.
- 215. Yki-Jarvinen H, Young AA, Lamkin C and Foley JE. Kinetics of glucose disposal in whole body and across the forearm in man. *J Clin Invest* 79: 1713-1719, 1987.
- 216. Zhang R, Dhillon H, Yin H, Yoshimura A, Lowell BB, Maratos-Flier E and Flier JS. Selective inactivation of Socs3 in SF1 neurons improves glucose homeostasis without affecting body weight. *Endocrinology* 149: 5654-5661, 2008.
- 217. **Zhang X, Zhang G, Zhang H, Karin M, Bai H and Cai D**. Hypothalamic IKKbeta/NF-kappaB and ER stress link overnutrition to energy imbalance and obesity. *Cell* 135: 61-73, 2008.

- 218. **Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L and Friedman JM**. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* 372: 425-432, 1994.
- 219. Zimmet P, Alberti KG and Shaw J. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. *Nature* 414: 782-787, 2001.